GEOSPATIAL ANALYSIS OF URBAN TREE DISTRIBUTION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF ECOSYSTEM SERVICES IN WASHINGTON, D.C. WITH RELATION TO TRAFFIC VOLUME

by

Angela R. Gaal A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of George Mason University in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Biology Committee: Dr. Ancha Baranova, Thesis Chair Dr. Travis Gallo, Thesis Director Dr. Pat Gillevet, Committee Member Dr. Iosif Vaisman, Director, School of Systems Biology Dr. Donna Fox, Associate Dean, Office of Student Affairs & Special Programs, College of Science Dr. buPadmanabhan Seshaiver, Dean, **College of Science** Date: _____ Fall Semester 2021 George Mason University Fairfax, VA

Geospatial Analysis of Urban Tree Distribution and Effectiveness of Ecosystem Services in Washington, D.C. with Relation to Traffic Volume

A Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at George Mason University

By

Angela R. Gaal Bachelor of Science Bob Jones University, 2019

Director: Henry T. Gallo, Professor Department of Environmental Science and Policy

> Fall Semester 2021 George Mason University Fairfax, VA

Copyright 2021 Angela R. Gaal All Rights Reserved

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my grandfather, an avid naturalist, teacher, leader, and lover of God's gift of Earth.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I conducted this research after brainstorming and collaborating with the National Parks Service and Casey Trees. This research was funded by the Trees Virginia Academic Scholarship for 2021. Dr. Travis Gallo guided this research through every stage, giving advice and encouragement along the way, and I am incredibly grateful for his help.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	Page
List of Figures	
	viii
List of Abbreviations	1X
Abstract	X
Chapter One	1
Introduction	1
Differing Value Measures	3
Monopolizing One Ecosystem Service Above Other Big Bucket Services	3
Objectives	4
Methods	5
Species Categorization	5
Ecosystem Service Analysis	15
Results	15
Discussion	16
Ecosystem Use and Effectiveness	16
Future Endeavors	19
Limitations	
Conclusion	
Chapter Two	
Introduction	
A Lack of Effective Information Transfer to Policy Makers	
Value-Driven Action	
Breach the Gap Between Science and Policy	
Objectives	
Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Identify Action Costs and Benefits with a Focus on Urban Sustainability	

The Opportunities for Urban Planting	31
Limitations	31
Conclusion	32
References	33
Biography	56

LIST OF TABLES

Figure	I	Page
Table 1		6

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
1 1801 0 0	20

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Geographic Information System GIS

ABSTRACT

GEOSPATIAL ANALYSIS OF URBAN TREE DISTRIBUTION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF ECOSYSTEM SERVICES IN WASHINGTON, D.C. WITH RELATION TO TRAFFIC VOLUME

Angela R. Gaal, M.S. George Mason University, 2021

Thesis Director: Dr. Henry Travis Gallo

Ecosystem services – and their economic role in providing goods to humans – is discussed as a critical planning focus for urban sustainability. Incorporating nature-based solutions provides a holistic approach to environmental policy that apply to economic, social, and ecosystem disciplines per geographic location. Chapter 1 explores publicly available tree point data to categorize street tree species according to their efficiency in providing stormwater protection, shade, carbon sequestration, air purification, and aesthetic value. The distribution of ecosystem services was determined using ArcGIS Pro 2.4.0. Chapter 2 determines the focal correlation between mean traffic volume data (2016-2019) and air purification services provisioned by public street trees using ArcGIS Pro 2.4.0 and R. Not all cities have the same demographic, climate, geography, etc., therefore environmental policy should be case-specific. Results indicate that geographic information systems (GIS) serve a key purpose to provide policy makers visual representations of geographic locations and a big picture view for creating policies that promote long term urban sustainability through cost-effective prowess and strategic management.

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

As the human population continues to grow, the idea of improving urban sustainability has increasingly become more important to address. Thus, decisions we make to ensure our population's safety and health is of utmost importance. How we approach environmental issues as a society has changed dramatically over the past 100 years. The battle raging in the 1960s and 1970s between urban growth and conservation, however, diverged into an overwhelming movement toward promoting nature synchronously for human and environmental well-being (Tallis, 2011). The approaches taken by politicians, agencies, nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), and the public, however, differ in response to the issue of urban sustainability and effective natural resource management. Involvement in these areas provides hopeful progress toward balance between conserving natural resources and using ecosystem services provided by nature, but we must be clear on the criteria for "effective" policy making.

Ecosystem services play a significant role in people's views about nature and what goods and benefits nature provides. In 2005, the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment evaluated how the world's ecosystems have changed over time (Reid, 2005). This assessment was a stock of the world's natural resources and provided insights for how ecosystems can be managed effectively to promote growing biodiversity and greater natural output for urban development. As the human population grows, the demand for clean water, food, and clean air increase. Thus, necessities depend on the efficiency with which ecosystem services are rendered (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Board, 2003).

Efficiency, or effectiveness, can be defined as "the achievement of stated objectives... in utilitarian, economic terms as maximizing total welfare" (Martin et al., 2014). Longer term monitoring of ecosystem services redefines the term "efficiency" to extend past short-term outcomes and focus more on core motivation for sustainability and conservation action (Martin et al., 2014). When we consider the effectiveness of ecosystem services in terms of public street trees, we focus not only on the outputs of chemical materials, physiology, cultural benefits to society, etc. but on how those processes and materials can be maximized to last for years to come and more importantly, the why. Why should our society work vigorously to put in place systems that last for 50, 100, 200 years? Why should our culture care about the environment, and how do differing cultural interpretations impact how we treat the earth holistically? To propose a foundational motive for conservation actions is to give this stewarding work greater value.

Urban tree canopies, specifically, support nutrient cycling and oxygen regulation, promote climate resilience through shade provision and carbon sequestration, provide protective soil barriers against erosion, influence symbiotic relationships with other species through habitat provision, and maintain aesthetic, cultural fulfillment to humans (Mills et al., 2016; Mexia et al., 2018). As urban development continues, planners look toward incorporating stand-alone trees along streets to mitigate climate change and provide ecosystem services that promote urban sustainability for future generations to enjoy.

Differing Value Measures

The responsibility of decision makers is to be aware of the current social conditions when creating changes to policies that would otherwise disrupt the equilibrium of the system. Scientific evidence presented through mapping ecosystem services available in a geographic area can serve as a guideline or measurement of city health (Parkhurst, 2017). However, a difficulty in effective policy making lies with our value measure, which differs with everyone. Not every choice will lead to the same results, therefore it may be beneficial to consider multiple variables simultaneously (National Research Council, 2012).

Overall value differences throughout the local human population certainly affect the efficiency of cultural ecosystem services based on how individuals grew up, how they were taught to think about the surrounding environment, and their definition of "home." We all, however, have an innate desire to be "rooted in belonging and attachment" (Scruton, 2012). If decision makers' goal is to create an atmosphere with clean air for medical health *in addition* to an oasis where people feel a sense of place, they must divert from the tendency to view urban planning from a surface-level perspective, meaning planting trees without considering what ecosystem services might be available based on species morphology and how those available services might impact one another.

Monopolizing One Ecosystem Service Above Other Big Bucket Services

Another problem typically seen in the development of cities is visualizing environmental benefits singularly. For instance, planting trees solely for aesthetic beauty minimizes the fact that nature works as a complex framework of interactions between species and their environment (Salmond et al., 2016). Focusing on maximizing one ecosystem service above another when planting trees may result in a decline of other ecosystem services necessary to fulfill other societal needs. Without understanding the relationships between ecosystem services provided by street trees, oftentimes the result is a decline, or even elimination of one service and poor stewardship of urban spaces. This decline is especially dangerous now as urban growth continues to explode and demand for ecosystem services continues to increase (Bennett et al., 2009). Therefore, we should focus on maximizing multiple services simultaneously to build a more sustainable urban environment.

One way to approach looking at ecosystem service value is through mapping the distribution of each ecosystem service and conducting a gap analysis. A gap analysis allows us to infer where specific ecosystem services are lacking and which species to plant in those areas to increase service provisioning in the "gaps." In an ecosystem service study conducted in South Africa, Egoh et al. (2008) found that one service does not always benefit other services, but relationships may change among ecosystem services based on management, resulting in maximization of more than one ecosystem service simultaneously. It is difficult to assess correlations between ecosystem services and how policies affect these services as knowledge about these relationships remains limited, but big picture studies, such as this study, allow policy makers to infer positive action in city planning (Bennett et al., 2009). Here, I focus on public street tree management and the ecosystem services they provision to Washington, D.C. residents.

Objectives

This chapter categorizes the public street trees of Washington, D.C. by five broad ecosystem services that each species provides -1) stormwater runoff, 2) air purification,

3) carbon sequestration, 4) shade, and 5) aesthetic beauty – and maps the distribution of each ecosystem service across the city. The two objectives of this chapter were to 1) provide a tree/ecosystem service dataset from which additional studies can build and policy makers can use as scientific evidence to support decisions about urban sustainability and 2) determine the distribution of these five broad ecosystem services provided by urban street trees and identify areas where specific ecosystem services are minimally provisioned or are completely lacking.

Methods

Species Categorization

I used the Urban Forestry Street Tree spatial data layer, maintained by the City of Washington, D.C. as a base data layer to categorize tree species in Washington, D.C. The urban forestry street tree dataset is used to log and monitor the planting of new trees and the health status of currently existing street trees in the District of Columbia. To develop a more current dataset of ecosystem services, tree records that did not indicate present, healthy trees of a specific species and tree records last edited before 2015 were excluded from this study. Each tree species (n = 273) was categorized according to the ecosystem services they provide most efficiently according to the literature (Berland 2017; Castro-Diez 2019; Salmond 2016). I chose five ecosystem service categories to focus on for this study: aesthetics, air purification, stormwater mitigation, shade and cooling, and carbon sequestration (Table 1). After each species was categorized, species-specific records were joined to the individual street tree point data in the Urban Forestry Street Tree layer. This

final connection provided a spatial categorization of ecosystem services provided by

public street trees across D.C.

Table 1. Tree species categorizations for five ecosystem services provided by urban street trees (Stormwater mitigation, Shade, Air Purification, Carbon Sequestration, and Aesthetics) based on the Urban Forestry Street Tree data layer maintained by the City of Washington, D.C.

ECOSYSTEM	SPECIES	REFERENCES
SERVICE		
ECOSYSTEM SERVICE Stormwater	SPECIES American Elm, American Holly, American Hop Hornbeam, American Smoketree, American Sycamore, Amur Maple, Ash, Augustine Elm, Bald Cypress, Bea Schwartz Dutch Elm, Birch, Blackhaw Viburnum, Black Locust, Black Pine, Black Walnut, Blandford Dutch Elm, Blue Atlas Cedar, Bloodgood London Plane tree, Boxelder Maple, Boxwood, Buford Holly Hedge, Bur Oak, Carolina Silverbell, Cedar, Cherry, Cherrybark Oak, China Snow Lilac, Chinese Elm, Chinese Flame tree, Chinese Fringetree, Chinese Pistache, Chokecherry, Colorado Blue Spruce, Columnar English Oak, Columnare Red Maple, Columnare Sugar Maple, Cottonwood, Crimean Linden, Cypress, Dawn Redwood, Dogwood, Dogwood (Kousa), Downy Serviceberry, Dura Heat' River Birch, Eastern Redbud, Eastern Redcedar, Elm, Elm (Accolade), European Beech, European Black Alder, Flowering Dogwood, Forest Pansy Redbud, Fosters Holly, Fragrant Sumac, Freeman Maple, Ginkgo, Ginkgo (female), Ginkgo	REFERENCES American Conifer Society 2020Anderson and Pezeshki 1999Arbor Day Foundation 2020Baraldi et al. 2019Barrett et al. 1990BassukBhatta et al. 2018Boyd Nursery Co. 2020Buiteveld et al. 2014(Burns and Honkala) Sluder 1990Carretero et al. 2017Chen et al. 2016Claessens 2010Connon 2020Coulley and Hardiman 2007Dineva 2017dnr.wi.gov 2007Drzewiecka et al. 2019Forsyth 2007Freeborn et al. 2015Gilman and Watson 1993Gilman and Watson 2018Gourdji 2018Guries and Smalley 1990Han et al. 2014Horticulture Unlimited 2020
	(male), Ginkgo Princeton Sentry, Glenleven Linden, Green Ash, Green Pillar Oak, Green	hort.ifas.ufl 2015 Hounshell 2020 Huang et al. 2004
	Vase Japanese Zelkova, Greenspire Littleleaf Linden, Groenveldt Dutch Elm, Hackberry,	Jeong 2010 Jo 2012 Karnosky and Myers 1982
	Hardy Rubber Tree, Hawthorn Winter King, Hedge Maple, Hickory, Honeylocust,	Kiss et al. 2015 Kiyomizu et al. 2019
	Hornbeam, Hornbeam (European)(Common), Horsechestnut	Kuehler et al. 2016 Landscape America 2020
	Inkberry Holly, Japanese Black Pine.	Kirwan and Kane 2009
	Japanese Cryptomeria, Japanese Pagodatree,	Kleczewski and Herms 2012 Kou-Giesbrecht and Menge 2019

Japanese Zelkova, Jefferson Elm, Jujube,	Kwak et al
Juniper, Katsuratree, Kentucky Coffeetree.	Leopold 19
Levland Cypress Linden Littleleaf Linden	Lou 2015
Live Oak Lahlelly Ding Lander Diang Tree	Maeglin ar
Live Oak, Lobiolity Plile, Lolidoli Plane Tree,	Malaviya e
Magnolia, Magnolia (Galaxy), Maple,	Marquis Se
Marshall Green Ash, Mimosa, Moraine	McLemore
Honeylocust, Mulberry, New Harmony Elm,	Megonigal
Northern Catalpa, Norway Maple, Nuttall	Morrovia
Oak Oak October Glory Red Maple	Morton Ar
Okama Charry Osaga Oranga Overcup	Moser et al
Orla Devertanta Marila Deve Devicup	NC State e
Oak, Paperbark Maple, Pear, Persimmon,	Neufeld 19
Pin Oak, Pink-Flowering Dogwood, Pioneer	Niemiera 2
Elm, Pitch Pine, Plane Tree, Pond Cypress,	Niemiera 2
Possumhaw, Post Oak, Princeton Elm,	Nowak 199
Purple Leaf Plum, Red Buckeye, Red Maple,	Nowak 199
Redbud Regen Japanese Pagodatree River	Nowak 199
Rich Dosa of Sharon Dotundiloha	Nowak 200
	OSU 2020
Sweetgum, Sawtooth Oak, Scotch Elm,	Park et al.
Scots Pine, Serviceberry, Shadblow	Peterson U
Serviceberry, Shademaster Honeylocust,	Pletras-Co
Shingle Oak, Shumard Oak, Siberian Elm,	Ranney 19
Silver Maple, Skyline, Honeylocust, Slender	Ranney et
Silhouette Sweetgum, Smooth-leaf Elm.	Rindv et al
Snowdrift Crabapple Sourwood Southern	Roloff 200
Catalna, Southarn Bad Oalt, Souragion Din	Roloff 201
Catalpa, Southern Red Oak, Sovereign Phi	Rutgers 20
Oak, Stagnorn Sumac, Star Magnona,	Saeed et al
Sugarberry, Summershade Norway Maple,	Samara and
Sunburst Honeylocust, Swamp White Oak,	Sauer 2007
Sweetbay Magnolia, Sweetgum, Sweetgum	Scharenbro
(sterile), Thornless Honeylocust, Tree-of-	Schooling Seiler et al
heaven, Tupelo, Turkish Filbert, Tuscarora	Selmi 2016
Crane Myrtle Village Green Japanese	Si et al 2010
Zalkova Virginia Dina Vitay Washington	Simon et a
Zerkova, virginia Fine, vitex, washington	Song 2013
Hawthorn, Water Oak, Weeping Willow,	Stirban et a
Winged Sumac, White Pine, Whitehouse	Stokes and
Callery Pear, Willow, Willow Oak, Witch-	Takahashi
hazel, Yellow Buckeye, Yellowwood, Yew,	Taylor's N
Yoshino Cherry	Temple 20
Ş	The Spruce
	TomaĐevi
	Turk et al.
	UF IFAS 2
	UnfA Klin
	Urban Hab
	Urošević e
	Wang et al
	Wang et al
	Weber 198

1. 2020 980 nd Ohmann 1973 et al. 2019 ekse 2015 e (Burns) 1990 and Day 1992 Botanical Garden 2020 2020 rboretum 2020 ıl. 2015 extension 2020 983 2009 2018 92 93 96 00 2018 JSDA 2018 ouffignal and Robakowski 994 al. 1999 1. 2019 09 1)13 1. 2016 nd Tsitsoni 2014 och 2011 2015 1. 2019 6)18 al. 2014 al. 1979 Samuelson 2010 et al. 2005 lursery 2020)12 e 2020 ic et al. 2004 2017 2020 ngaman 2010 bitiats 2012 et al. 2019 1. 2016 1. 2018 82 Woo et al. 2003 WSU 2020

		Yoon et al. 2013
		Yuan 2013
		Zhang et al. 2009
		Zhang et al. 2016
		Zhu et al. 2019
Shade	American Beech, American Elm, American	Akbari 2002 Anderson and Pazashki 1000
	Hop Hornbeam, American Linden, Amur	Arbor Valley Nursery 2020
	Corktree, Amur Maackia, Arnold Crabapple,	Barker 1984
	Ash, Aspen, Augustine Elm, Bea Schwartz	Buiteveld et al. 2014
	Dutch Elm. Beijing Gold Lilac, Black Oak.	(Burns and Honkala) Burton 1990
	Black Walnut Blackiack Oak Blandford	Burns (Smith) 1990
	Dutch Film Bloodgood London Planetree	Carretero et al. 2017
	Bur Oak Charry Charry (Snowgoosa)	Chen 2017
	Characharle Oale, Characharat, Oale, China, Charachara	Corchnoy 1992
	Cherrybark Oak, Chestnut Oak, China Show	Coulston et al. 2002
	Lilac, Chinese Chestnut, Chinese Elm,	Culley and Hardiman 2007
	Chinese Flame Tree, Chinese Fringe tree,	dpr wi gov 2007
	Chinese Pistache, Chinese Pistachio,	Forsyth 2007
	Chinkapin Oak, Cockspur Hawthorn,	Freeborn et al. 2012
	Columnare Norway Maple, Commelin Dutch	Friedman 2010
	Elm, Cottonwood, Crape Myrtle, Crimean	Gillner et al. 2015
	Linden Crimson Cloud Hawthorn Crimson	Gilman and Watson 1993
	King Norway Maple, Cucumber Magnolia	Gilman and Watson 2018
	Currage Derlington Oak Down Redwood	Gotsch et al. 2018
	Dehemel Normer Marle Dave Tree Dure	Guries and Smalley 1990
	Deboran Norway Maple, Dove Tree, Dura	Han et al. 2014
	Heat' River Birch, Eastern Redbud, Elm,	Horticulture Unlimited 2020
	Elm (Accolade), Emerald Queen Norway	Hounshell 2020
	Maple, European Beech, European	hort.ifas.ufl.edu 2015
	Mountain-Ash, Fir, Forest Pansy Redbud,	Huang et al. 2004
	Formosan Gum, Fragrant Snowbell, Freeman	IAState 2020
	Maple, Ginkgo, Ginkgo (male), Ginkgo	Jablonski 2017
	Princeton Sentry, Glenleven Linden.	Jeong 2010
	Goldenrain Tree, Green Mountain Sugar	J0 2012 Karnosky and Myers 1982
	Maple Green Pillar Oak Green Vase	Kirwan and Kane 2009
	Japanese Zelkova, Greenspire Littleleaf	Kiss et al. 2015
	Japanese Zeikova, Oreenspire Littleiear	Kiyomizu et al. 2019
	Linden, Groenveit Duich Eim, Hackberry,	Kleczewski and Herms 2012
	Hardy Rubber Tree, Hickory, Honeylocust,	Kuehler et al. 2016
	Horsechestnut, Japanese Black Pine,	Kwak et al. 2020
	Japanese Pagodatree, Japanese Zelkova,	Leopoid 1980 Lettl and Hysek 1994
	Jefferson Elm, Jujube, Juniper, Katsuratree,	Liang et al 2017
	Kentucky Coffeetree, Lavalle Hawthorn,	Lindell 2017
	Leyland Cypress, Lilac, Linden, Littleleaf	Lou 2015
	Linden, Live Oak, Loblolly Pine, London	Malaviya et al. 2019
	Plane Tree, Maple, Mimosa, Moraine	Marquis Sekse 2015
	Honeylocust, Mulberry, New Harmony Elm	McPherson 2010
	Northern Catalna Nuttall Oak Oak Okame	Meyer 1995
	Cherry Osage Orange Departarly Maria	Monrovia 2020
	Deer Dersimmon Din Oals Dienson Eler	Morton Arboretum 2020
	Plane Tree, Dest Oals, Princet Elm,	NC state extension 2020
	Plane Tree, Post Oak, Princeton Elm,	Niemiera 2009
	Rad1ant Crabapple, Red Horsechestnut, Red	

	Maple, Red Oak, Redbud, Redmond	Niemiera 2018
	American Linden Regent Japanese	Nowak 1993
	Pagodatree River Birch Rock Chestnut	Nowak 1996
	Oak Dotundiloha Swaatgum Doval	Nowak 2000
	Deuleumie Sessefree Seuteeth Oals Seerlet	OSU 2020 Dark et al. 2018
	Paulowilla, Sassallas, Sawtootil Oak, Scallet	Faik et al. 2010 Pietras-Couffignal and Robakowski
	Oak, Seneca Chief Sugar Maple,	2019
	Shademaster Honeylocust, Shingle Oak,	Ranney 1994
	Shumard Oak, Silver Linden, Silver Maple,	Ranney et al. 1999
	Skyline Honeylocust, Slender Silhouette	Rindy et al. 2019
	Sweetgum, Smooth-leaf Elm, Southern	Rutgers 2013
	Catalpa, Southern Magnolia, Southern Red	Saeed et al. 2016
	Oak, Sovereign Pin Oak, Sugar Maple,	Samara and 1sitsoni 2014 Scharenbroch 2011
	Sugarberry, Summershade Norway Maple,	SelecTree 2020
	Sunburst Honeylocust, Swamp Chestnut	Selmi 2016
	Oak Swamp White Oak Sweetgum	Si et al. 2018
	Sweetgum (sterile) Sycamore Manle	Simon et al. 2014
	Thornlass Honeylocust Trident Monle Tulin	Smeal and Coartney 1984
	Donlon Tunolo, Tunkov Oals, Tentrick Eliterat	Song 2013
	Villes Course Learning 7, 1	Stirban et al. 1979 Stokes and Samuelson 2010
	Village Green Japanese Zelkova,	Stokes and Samuelson 2010 Takabashi et al. 2005
	Washington Hawthorn, Water Oak, White,	Taylor's Nursery 2020
	Oak, White Pine, Whitehouse Callery Pear,	Temple 2012
	Willow, Wisteria, Yellow Buckeye,	The Spruce 2020
	Yellowwood	TomaĐevic et al. 2004
		Turk et al. 2017
		UF IFAS 2020
		Uhrin and Supuka 2016
		UKY 2020 Urban Habitiata 2012
		Wang et al. 2015
		Wang et al. 2018
		Weber 1982
		Wondwossen 2012
		Woo et al. 2003
		WSU 2020
		WSU 2020
		WSU PNW Plants 2020
		Tooli et al. 2015 Zajicek 1991
		Zhang et al. 2009
		Zhang et al. 2016
Air	American Beech, American Elm, American	Akbari 2002
Purification	Linden, American Sycamore, Arkansas	American Conifer Society 2020
	Black Spur Apple, Ash. Aspen. Augustine	Anderson and Pezeshki 1999
	Elm. Bay Laurel. Bear Oak, Beijing Gold	Arora et al. 2014
	Lilac Birch Black Locust Black Oak Black	Bae et al. 1986
	Pine Black Walnut Blandford Dutch Flm	Baraldi et al. 2019
	Ploodgood I ondon Plana Trop. Plug Atlas	Barrett et al. 1990
	Cadan Davidan Manle Davida di David	Berlizov 2007
	Cedar, Boxelder Maple, Boxwood, Buford	Blonskaya 2019
	Holly Hedge, Carolina Silverbell, Cedar,	Boyd Nursery Co. 2020
	Cherry, Cherry (Snowgoose), Chinese Flame	Burns (Smith) 1990
	Tree, Cockspur Hawthorn, Colorado Blue	(Burns and Honkala) Sluder 1990

Spruce, Columnare Norway Maple,	Carre
Commelin Dutch Elm, Copper Beech.	Chen
Cottonwood, Crabapple, Crabapple (Harvest	Coul
Gold) Crimean Linden Cucumber	Dovo
Magnolia Cypress Dawn Redwood	Dave
Deborah Norway Maple Deodar Cedar	Drua
Dogwood Dove Tree Eastern Redbud Elm	Drze
Elm (Accolado) Emerald Queen Norwey	Freel
Manla European Basch European	Gilln
Mapie, European Beech, European	Gilm
Mountain-Ash, Fir, Flowering Dogwood,	Gots
Forest Pansy Redbud, Freeman Maple,	Gour
Ginkgo, Ginkgo (female), Ginkgo (male),	Gurie
Ginkgo Princeton Sentry, Glenleven Linden,	Hall
Goldenrain Tree, Green Ash, Green	Han
Mountain Sugar Maple, Green Pillar Oak,	Hijar
Greenspire Littleleaf Linden, Groenveldt	Jeong
Dutch Elm, Hackberry, Hawthorn Winter	Kiss
King, Hedge Maple, Hemlock, Hickory,	Kiyo
Horsechestnut, Japanese Maple, Japanese	Klecz
Snowbell, Jefferson Elm, Juniper, Kwanzan	Kueh
Cherry, Linden, Littleleaf Linden, London	Kwa
Plane Tree Magnolia Magnolia (Galaxy)	Letti
Maple Marshall Green Ash Mimosa	Linde
Moraine Honeylocust Mulberry New	Lou
Harmony Elm Northern Catalna Norway	Maeg
Maple Norway Spruce Nuttall Oak Oak	Mala
Osage Orange, Deurouv Beer, Darsien	Mala
Derrection Din Oole Dink Flowering Dogwood	Mart
Parroua, Pin Oak, Pink-Flowering Dogwood,	Meg
Ploneer Elm, Plich Pline, Plane Tree, Pond	Miss
Cypress, Poplar, Post Oak, Princeton Elm,	Mon
Purple Leaf Plum, Radiant Crabapple, Red	Mort
Maple, Red Oak, Red Pine, Redbud,	Mose
Redmond American Linden, River Birch,	NC S Nouf
Royal Paulownia, Sassafras, Saucer	Niem
Magnolia, Sawtooth Oak, Scarlet Oak,	Now
Scotch Elm, Scots Pine, Seneca Chief Sugar	Now
Maple, Shademaster Honeylocust, Shingle	Now
Oak, Shortleaf Pine, Shumard Oak, Siberian	Now
Elm, Silver Linden, Silver Maple, Skyline	Rann
Honeylocust, Smooth-leaf Elm, Snowdrift	Rind
Crabapple, Sourwood, Southern Catalpa,	Rutg
Southern Magnolia, Southern Red Oak,	Saee
Sovereign Pin Oak, Spruce. Staghorn Sumac	Sama
Sugar Maple, Sugarberry, Summershade	Scha
Norway Maple Suphurst Honeylocust	Selle
Thornless Honeylocust Thundercloud Dlum	Selm
Trop of housen Trident Monle Tulin	Shar
Doplar Turkish Filbort Tussonors Cross	Si et
ropiai, Turkish rhoen, Tuscarora Crape	Simo

etero et al. 2017 et al. 2016 lston et al. 2002 ey and Hardiman 2007 e's Garden 2020 eva 2017 art et al. 2006 wiecka et al. 2019 born et al. 2012 ner et al. 2015 nan and Watson 1993 nan and Watson 2018 ch et al. 2018 rdji 2018 es and Smalley 1990 2008 et al. 2014 no 2005 g 2010 osky and Myers 1982 et al. 2015 mizu et al. 2019 zewski and Herms 2012 hler et al. 2016 k et al. 2020 and Hýsek 1994 g et al. 2017 ell 2017 2015 glin and Ohmann 1973 aguti 2001 viya et al. 2019 tin et al. 2016 emore (Burns) 1990 onigal and Day 1992 souri Botanical Garden 2020 rovia 2020 ton Arboretum 2020 er et al. 2015 State Extension 2020 feld 1983 niera 2009 ak 1992 ak 1993 ak 1996 ak 2000 2020 ney et al. 1999 ly et al. 2019 ers 2013 d et al. 2016 ara and Tsitsoni 2014 renbroch 2011 er et al. 2019 cTree 2020 ni 2016 ma 2011 al. 2018 on et al. 2014

	Murtle Virginia Pine White Oak White	Smith 1973
	Dine Whitehouse College Deer Willer	Stirban et al. 1979
	Pine, wintenouse Canery Pear, willow,	Stokes and Samuelson 2010
	Willow Oak, Yew, Yoshino Cherry	Takahashi et al. 2005
		Taylor's Nursery 2020
		The Spruce 2020
		TomaĐevic et al. 2004
		Troxel et al. 2013
		UF IFAS 2020
		UKY 2020
		Urošević et al. 2019
		Wang et al. 2015
		Wang et al. 2016
		Wang et al. 2018
		Weber 1982
		Woodland Trust 2020
		Woo at al. 2002
		WSU PNW Plants 2020
		Yoon et al. 2013
		Yuan 2013
		Zhang et al. 2009
		Zhang et al. 2009
		Zhu et al. 2019
Carbon	Abrovitae, Alleghany Serviceberry,	Akbari 2002
Sequestration	American Cranberry Viburnum American	Anderson and Pezeshki 1999
Sequestrution	Elm American Hon Hornheam American	American Conifer Society 2020
	Linden American Successor Amur	Arbor day foundation 2020
	Linden, American Sycamore, Amur	Arora et al. 2014
	Corktree, Arkansas Black Spur Apple, Ash,	Bae et al. 1986
	Aspen, Augustine Elm, Bald Cypress, Bear	Baraldi et al. 2019
	Oak, Birch, Black Locust, Black Walnut,	Barlinov 2007
	Blackhaw Viburnum, Blandford Dutch Elm,	Bhatta et al. 2018
	Bloodgood London Plane Tree Boxelder	Blonskava 2019
	Maple Bur Oak Cedar Cherry Cherry	Burns (Smith) 1990
	(Supervision of the set of the se	Carretero et al. 2017
	(Snowgoose), Cherrybark Oak, Chinese Elm,	Chen et al. 2016
	Chinese Flame Tree, Chinese Pistachio,	Coulston et al. 2002
	Colorado Blue Spruce, Copper Beech,	Culley and Hardiman 2007
	Cottonwood, Crabapple, Crabapple (Harvest	Dave's Garden 2020
	Gold), Cucumber Magnolia, Cypress, Dawn	Dineva 2017
	Redwood, Deodar Cedar. Eastern Redcedar.	Druart et al. 2006
	Elm, Elm (Accolade) Freeman Manle	Drzewiecka et al. 2019
	Ginkgo (female) Ginkgo (male)	Fang Liang et al. 2012 Gardonista 2020
	Cinkgo, Olikgo (Ichiale), Olikgo (Illale),	Gilman and Watson 1993
	Ginkgo Princeton Sentry, Green Asn, Green	Gilman and Watson 2018
	Mountain Sugar Maple, Green Vase	Gotsch et al. 2018
	Japanese Zelkova, Groenveldt Dutch Elm,	Gourdii 2018
	Hackberry Hemlock, Hickory, Honeylocust,	Guries and Smalley 1990
	Japanese Maple, Japanese Zelkova, Jefferson	Hall 2008
	Elm. Juniper, Katsuratree, Kentucky	Han et al. 2014
	Coffeetree Kwanzan Cherry Levland	Hijano 2005
	Cypress Lilac Linden Littlelast Linden	Horticulture Unlimited 2020
	Live Oak Leblelly Ding, London Ding, The	Hounshell 2020
	Live Oak, Lobiolity Pine, London Plane Tree,	Huang et al. 2004
	Longleaf Pine, Magnolia, Magnolia	Jeong 2010

(Galaxy), Maple, Marshall Green Ash.	Jo 2012
Mimosa Moraine Honeylocust Mulberry	Karnosky and Myers 1982
Naw Hermony Elm Northern Catalna	Kiss et al. 2015
New Hannony Enn, Northern Cataipa,	Kiyomizu et al. 2019
Norway Maple, Norway Spruce, Nuttall	Kleczewski and Herms 2012
Oak, Oak, Overcup Oak, Pear, Persian	Kuehler et al. 2016
Parrotia, Persimmon, Pin Oak, Pioneer Elm,	Kwak et al. 2020
Pitch Pine, Plane Tree, Pond Cypress,	Leopold 1980
Poplar Post Oak Princeton Elm Purple	Liang et al. 2017
Leaf Plum Radint Crahannle Red	Linden 2017
Lear Fruin, Radine Crabappie, Red	Malaguti 2001
Horsechesthut, Red Maple, Red Oak, Red	Malayiya et al. 2019
Pine, Redmond American Linden, River	Martin et al. 2016
Birch, Rose of Sharon, Rotundiloba	Marquis Sekse 2015
Sweetgum, Royal Paulownia, Sassafras,	Maeglin and Ohmann 1973
Sawtooth Oak, Scarlet Oak, Scots Pine,	Megonigal and Day 1992
Seneca Chief Sugar Maple, Serviceberry	Missouri Botanical Garden 2020
Spingle Oak Shortloof Pine Shumard Oak	Monrovia 2020
Similar Class Shortean Fine, Shumaru Oak,	Morton Arboretum 2020
Siberian Elm, Silver Linden, Silver Maple,	Moser et al. 2015
Slender Silhouette Sweetgum, Smooth-leaf	NC state extension 2020
Elm, Snowdrift Crabapple, Sourwood,	Neufeld 1983
Southern Magnolia, Sovereign, Pin Oak,	Niemiera 2009
Spruce, Sugar Maple, Sugarberry,	Niemiera 2018
Summershade Norway Maple Sunburst	Nowak 1992 Nowak 1992
Honoulogust Sweethey Magnelia	Nowak 1995 Nowak 1995
Honeylocust, Sweetbay Magnona,	Nowak 2000
Sweetgum, Sweetgum (sterile), Thornless	OSU 2020
Honeylocust, Tree-of-heaven, Trident	Park et al. 2018
Maple, Tulip Poplar, Tupelo, Turkish	Pietras-Couffignal and Robakowski
Filbert, Village Green Japanese Zelkova,	2019
Water Oak, Weeping Willow, White	Rindy et al. 2019
Fringetree White Oak White Pine	Roloff 2009
Whitehouse Callery Pear, Willow Willow	Rutgers 2013
Only Witch hand Year, White Change	Saeed et al. 2016
Oak, witch-hazel, Yew, Yoshino Cherry	Samara and Tsitsoni 2014
	Sauer 2007
	Scharenbroch 2011
	Sharma 2011
	Si et al. 2018 Simon et al. 2014
	Smith 1973
	Song 2013
	Stirban et al. 1979
	Stokes and Samuelson 2010
	Takahashi et al. 2005
	Taylor's Nursery 2020
	Temple 2012
	The Spruce 2020
	Troxel et al. 2013
	UF IFAS 2020
	UKY 2020
	Urošević et al. 2019
	Wahar 1082
	Wondwossen 2012
	Woodland Trust 2020
	wooulallu 11ust 2020

		Woodwell 2020
		Woo et al. 2003
		WSU 2020
		Yoon et al. 2013
		Zhang et al. 2009
		Zhang et al. 2016
		Zhu et al. 2019
Aesthetics	Abrovitae, Alleghany Serviceberry,	Anderson and Pezeshki 1999
	American Beech, American Cranberry	Arbor Day Foundation
	Viburnum, American Elm, American Holly,	Afora et al. 2014
	American Hop Hornbeam American	Baraldi et al. 2010
	Smoketree Amur Manle Arkansas Black	Barrett et al. 1000
	Shickenee, Annu Maple, Arkansas Diack	Bassuk
	Spui Apple, Allolu Clabapple, Aspell, Balu	Berlizov 2007
	Cypress, Bay Laurel, Beach Plum, Beijing	Blonskaya 2019
	Gold Lilac, Birch, Black Locust, Black Pine,	Boyd Nursery Co.
	Blackhaw Viburnum, Blandford Dutch Elm,	Burns (Smith) 1990
	Bloodgood London Plane Tree, Blue Atlas	Burton 1990
	Cedar, Boxwood, Buford Holly Hedge, Bur	Carretero et al. 2017
	Oak Carolina Poplar, Carolina Silverbell	Chen et al. 2016
	Cader Charry Charry (Snowgoogo)	Claessens 2010
	Cedar, Cherry, Cherry (Showgoose),	Connon 2020
	Chestnut Oak, China Snow Lilac, Chinese	Corchnoy 1992
	Chestnut, Chinese Elm, Chinese Flame Tree,	Coulston et al. 2002
	Chinese Fringetree, Chinese Pistache,	Dineya 2017
	Chinese Pistachio, Chinkapin Oak,	dnr wi gov 2007
	Chokecherry, Cockspur Hawthorn, Colorado	Druart et al. 2006
	Blue Spruce, Columnar English Oak	Drzewiecka et al. 2019
	Columnare Red Manle, Columnare Sugar	Fang Liang et al. 2012
	Maple Copper Basch Cottonwood	Forsyth 2007
	Grahamala Grahamala (Harrast Gald) Grana	Freeborn et al. 2012
	Crabappie, Crabappie (Harvest Gold), Crape	Freilicher 2017
	Myrtle, Crimson Cloud Hawthorn, Crimson	Gardenista 2020
	King Norway Maple, Cucumber Magnolia,	Gillner et al. 2015
	Cypress, Dawn Redwood, Deborah Norway	Gilman and Watson 1993
	Maple, Deodar Cedar, Dogwood, Dogwood	Gotsch et al. 2018
	(Kousa). Dove Tree. Downy Serviceberry.	Gourdii 2018
	Dura Heat' River Birch Fastern Redbud	Guries and Smalley 1990
	Eastern Padadar, Elm (Accolada), Emarald	Hall 2008
	Oueen Newvoy Monte, English Heller	Han et al. 2014
	Queen Norway Maple, English Holly,	Hijano 2005
	European Black Alder, Fig, Fir, Flowering	Horticulture Unlimited 2020
	Dogwood, Forest Pansy Redbud, Formosan	hort.ifas.ufl 2015
	Gum, Fosters Holly, Fragrant Snowbell,	Jablonski 2017
	Fragrant Sumac, Franklin Tree, Freeman	Jeong 2010
	Maple, Ginkgo, Ginkgo (male), Ginkgo	JO 2012 Kornocky and Myore 1082
	Princeton Sentry, Glenleven Linden Golden	Kirwan and Kane 2009
	Chain Tree Goldenrain Tree Green Ash	Kiss et al. 2015
	Croon Mountain Sugar Manla, Croon Mass	Kiyomizu et al. 2019
	Green Wountain Sugar Waple, Green Vase	Kleczewski and Herms 2012
	Japanese Zelkova, Greenspire Littleleaf	Klingaman 2010
	Lınden, Groenveldt Dutch Elm, Hackberry,	Kou-Giesbrecht and Menge 2019
	Hawthorn Winter King, Hedge Maple,	Kuehler et al. 2016
	Hemlock, Hickory, Honeylocust, Hornbeam,	Kwak et al. 2020

Hornbeam (European)(Common),	Landscape America 2020
Horsechestnut, Inkberry Holly, Japanese	Leopold 1980
Apricot, Japanese Black Pine, Japanese	Liang et al. 2017
Cryptomeria, Japanese Maple, Japanese	Lou 2013 Malaguti 2001
Pagodatree Japanese Plum Japanese	Malayiya et al. 2019
Snowhell Jananese Stewartia Jananese	Martin et al. 2016
Zalkova Jaffarson Elm Jujuba Juninar	Marquis Sekse 2015
Zerkova, Jenerson Enn, Jujube, Juniper,	McLemore (Burns) 1990
Katsuratree, Kentucky Conectree, Korean	McPherson 2010
Evodia, Kwanzan Cherry, Lavalle Hawthorn,	Megonigal and Day 1992
Leyland Cypress, Lilac, Linden, Littleleaf	Missouri Botanical Garden 2020
Linden, London Plane Tree, Longleaf Pine,	Monrovia 2020 Morton Arboratum 2020
Magnolia, Magnolia (Galaxy), Maple,	Moser et al. 2015
Marshall Green Ash, Mimosa, Moraine	NC state extension 2020
Honeylocust, Mountain Silverbell, Mulberry,	Neufeld 1983
Nannyberry, New Harmony Elm, Northern	Niemiera 2009
Catalna Norway Manle Norway Spruce	Niemiera 2018
Nuttall Oak Oak October Clory Red Maple	Nowak 1992
Nuttali Oak, Oak, October Olory Red Maple,	Nowak 1993
Okame Cherry, Osage Orange, Overcup	Nowak 1996 Nowak 2000
Oak, Pagoda Dogwood, Paperbark Maple,	OSU 2020
Pawpaw, Peach, Pear, Persian Parrotia,	Park et al. 2018
Persimmon, Photinia, Pin Oak, Pink-	Peterson USDA 2018
Flowering Dogwood, Pioneer Elm, Plane	Pietras-Couffignal and Robakowski
Tree, Pomegranate, Pond Cypress, Poplar,	2019
Possumhaw, Princeton Elm, Purple Leaf	Ranney 1994
Plum, Radiant Crabapple, Red Buckeye, Red	Ranney et al. 1999
Horsechestnut, Red Maple, Red Oak,	Roloff 2011
Redbud, Regent Japanese Pagodatree.	Rutgers 2013
Rhododendron River Birch Rock Chestnut	Saeed et al. 2016
Oak Rose of Sharon Rotundiloha	Samara and Tsitsoni 2014
Sweetgum Devel Devloying Seconfree	Sauer 2007
Sweetguill, Royal Faulowilla, Sassallas,	Scharenbroch 2011
Saucer Magnona, Sawtooth Oak, Scarlet	Schooling 2015
Oak, Scotch Elm, Seneca Chief Sugar	Seiler et al. 2019
Maple, Serviceberry, Seven-son Flower,	Selectree 2020 Sharma 2011
Shadblow Serviceberry, Shademaster	Si et al 2018
Honeylocust, Shingle Oak, Shortleaf Pine,	Simon et al. 2014
Shumard Oak, Silver Linden, Silver Maple,	Sluder 1990
Skyline Honeylocust, Slender Silhouette	Smeal and Coartney 1984
Sweetgum, Smooth-leaf Elm, Snowdrift	Smith 1973
Crabapple, Sourwood, Southern Catalpa,	Song 2013
Southern Magnolia Southern Red Oak	Stirban et al. 1979
Sovereign Pin Oak Spruce Staghorn Sumac	Takabashi et al. 2005
Stoplay Dlum Star Magnelia Sugar Manla	Taylor's Nursery 2020
Stanley Fluin, Star Magnona, Sugar Maple,	Temple 2012
Sugarberry, Summersnade Norway Maple,	The Spruce 2020
Sunburst Honeylocust, Swamp Chestnut	TomaĐevic et al. 2004
Oak, Swamp White Oak, Sweetbay	Troxel et al. 2013
Magnolia, Sweetgum, Sweetgum (sterile),	Turk et al. 2017
Sycamore Maple, Thornless Honeylocust,	UF IFAS 2020 Librin and Supuka 2016
Thundercloud Plum, Tree-of-heaven, Trident	UKY 2020
	0111 2020

Maple, Tulip Poplar, Tupelo, Tukey Oak, Turkish Filbert, Tuscarora Crape Myrtle, Village Green Japanese Zelkova, Vitex, Washington Hawthorn, Water Oak, White Fringetree, White Oak, White Pine,	Urban Habitiats 2012 Urošević et al. 2019 Wang et al. 2015 Wang et al. 2016 Wang et al. 2018 Weber 1982 Wondwossen 2012
Whitehouse Callery Pear, Willow, Willow Oak, Winged Sumac, Wisteria, Witch-Hazel, Yellow Buckeye, Yellowwood, Yew, Yoshino Cherry, Yucca	Wondwossen 2012 Woodland Trust Woo et al. 2003 WSU 2020 WSU PNW Plants 2020 Urban Habitiats 2012 Yoon et al. 2013 Yuan 2013 Zajicek 1991 Zhang et al. 2009 Zhang et al. 2016 Zhu et al. 2019

Ecosystem Service Analysis

To assess spatial provisioning of ecosystem services, I used the Calculate Density Geoprocessing tool using ArcMap ver. 2.8.0 (ESRI, Redlands, CA, USA). The Calculate Density tool calculates the density of points within a given cell size by dividing the total number of points by the area of the cell. I calculated the density of tree points for each ecosystem service category with a 300-m cell size. The returning vector data (shapefile) contained a value of the density of trees that provisioned the respective ecosystem service. I used this value as proxy for ecosystem service provisioning. I then converted these vector layers into rasters to assess the spatial distribution of ecosystem service provisioning.

Results

From the literature, 42.5% of tree species provisioned at least four of the five ecosystem services explored in this study (Table 1). Of the tree species studied, aesthetics

(238 species) was the most provisioned service followed by stormwater protection (175 species), shade (158 species), air purification (157 species), and carbon sequestration (151 species). All tree species provisioned at least one ecosystem service. Overall ecosystem service provisioning tended to be greatest in downtown east of the National Mall, specifically around Lincoln and Stanton Parks. Ecosystem service provisioning was also high in central and northwest Washington, D.C. Pockets of the city near the Anacostia River and directly north of Ivy City had minimal service density (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The provision distribution at 300-m resolution of A) aesthetics, B) air purification, C) shade, D) stormwater mitigation, and E) carbon sequestration. F) represents a GAP analysis of all 5 ecosystem services. Darker areas represent a higher overlap of multiple services in Washington, D.C. Orange areas represent areas with no data where no public tree point data was collected.

An important result of this study was a new spatially explicit tree/ecosystem service data product from which additional studies can build and policy makers can use as scientific evidence to support decisions about urban sustainability. This dataset is open access and located at George Mason University Dataverse (Gaal, 2021).

Discussion

Even with useful, high quality scientific evidence at our fingertips, we cannot simply weave data into policy decisions. With this in mind, we should address the lack of effective knowledge translation from raw data into the hands of policy makers. One way to breach this gap is using geographic information systems which provide clear visual representations of a geographic area as well as hard data that can be used contextually by policy makers. Through tree species categorization and a point density analysis, I determined where ecosystem services were provisioned across Washington, D.C. and where services might be lacking for future strategic planning. Results indicated that ecosystem service provisioning was not consistent across the District and that aesthetic beauty had the greatest density distribution.

Oftentimes trees are planted solely for artistic expression or attractiveness (Bourassa, 1988). However, planting for one purpose is not the most effective way to manage ecosystem services in urban areas, especially since interactions between tree species create a complex framework where one ecosystem service may benefit another. Some argue that because nature is already a successful working system which renews itself, we should create policies that incorporate more nature-based solutions into our city infrastructures (Lafortezza, 2018). Although my point density distributions of each

17

ecosystem service did not show drastic differences across Washington, D.C., my analysis does identify areas lacking particular ecosystem services that should be prioritized.

Ecosystem Service Use and Effectiveness

Tree species studied did not exhibit the same number or type of ecosystem services, therefore the distribution of ecosystem services throughout Washington, D.C. was not consistent (Figure 1). Species morphology plays a large part in how effective tree species are at provisioning specific ecosystem services. For instance, some species are more suited to combatting urban heat islands which increase the local surface temperature (shade provisioning species) because of their broad canopies, large collective leaf-area, and high transpiration rates (Gillner et al. 2015). Other species, like black pine (pinus *nigra*), may still provide minimal shade provision but are better equipped to provision air purification. Black pine (pinus nigra) serves as an excellent biomonitor for airborne pollution and can store chemicals in its bark (Chiarantini et al. 2016). One limitation to my study was that all tree points were categorized as provisioning services equally regardless of size or age. However, younger trees with a smaller trunk diameter and smaller canopy do not provision ecosystem services as effectively. Jönsson and Snäll (2020) showed that ecosystem service functionality increases with tree age. When strategically planting, planners should consider planting adult trees or maintain the expectation that planted trees will not provision ecosystem services most effectively until grown.

Approximately 42.5% of the tree species studied provisioned four to five ecosystem services, and these species should be prioritized in planting to maximize

18

effectiveness of ecosystem service provisioning. A few examples of specific species include the American Elm (*Ulmus americana*), Cypress (*Cupressus*), Hackberry (*Celtis*), Hickory (*Carya*), Linden (*Tilia*), London plane tree (*Platanus x acerifolia*), Moraine Honeylocust (*Gleditsia triacanthos*), Northern Catalpa (*Catalpa speciosa*), Norway Maple (*Acer platanoides*), Oak (*Quercus*), Red Maple (*Acer rubrum*), River Birch (*Betula nigra*), Turkish Filbert (*Corylus colurna*), White Pine (*Pinus strobus*), and Willow (*Salix*). Of course, some tree species are more suited to the Washington, D.C. climate than others, and some species have a higher tolerance of road salt, salt spray, and overall urban pollution than others. It is key to select tree species that meet all the criteria so that species don't have to compensate for the lack of a healthy environment by targeting their energy toward maintaining homeostasis.

Future Endeavors

Having the tools to see where we stand in regards to our "ecosystem health", provides a starting point for improvement. For example, as city foresters and planners think about how different ecosystem services interact and affect one another, we can use an integrated Ecosystem Services Review which utilizes GIS-based technology (Sieber and Pons, 2015). Five key steps should be used to approach ecosystem service management in cities: 1) identify the ecosystem services present in the city, 2) note possible adaptation, 3) think through how to optimize the existing ecosystem services, 4) identify the costs of actions and benefits of actions, and 5) develop strategies for accomplishing those benefits (Sieber and Pons, 2015). In tandem with these steps, geographic information systems provide visuals and statistics to guide planners. This framework does provide effective,

positive results in ecosystem services management and can improve overall quality of life for people living in urban areas.

Limitations

This study was limited by the amount of data acquired. Some data points had to be discarded due to non-current tree point counts (recorded before 2015), unclear tree point notes from gathered data, and missing data in Washington, D.C. (as referenced in Figure 1). I also assigned each tree point a standard categorization of a specific ecosystem service regardless of the size or age of the tree when, in fact, younger trees with a smaller trunk diameter and smaller canopy do not provision ecosystem services as effectively (Jönsson and Snäll, 2020). Future research should take into consideration the age of individual trees, specifically comparing the effectiveness of ecosystem service provisioning in saplings versus full grown trees. Another study may consider the effectiveness of service provisioning based on season, whether trees provision ecosystem services more effectively in spring than winter and if there is a significant difference in the focal correlation between seasons and traffic volume. Finally, future research may consider how socioeconomic variables like population density or net income in local neighborhoods impacts the distribution and effectiveness of ecosystem service provisioning.

Conclusion

As urban development continues to grow, city planners and policy makers need management tools to help them know where ecosystem services are currently distributed

20

and where those services are lacking. Of special concern is the decline of regulating services which affect the maintenance of other ecosystem services (Carpenter et al. 2009). The findings from Chapter 1 clearly indicate that not all ecosystem services are provisioned equally, and areas with lower ecosystem service provisioning seem to be around the edges of the city (Figure 1). Chapter 1 provides a complete dataset of current tree species planted in Washington, D.C. since 2015 and is a valuable tool for strategic future planting (Table 1).

CHAPTER TWO

Introduction

A Lack of Effective Information Transfer to Policymakers

There exists a "language" barrier between scientists and policy makers regarding how scientific evidence is applied in policy. Haskins and Margolis, (2015) clearly differentiate between the technical, systematic nature of scientific evidence and generalized, broad applications to policy from decision makers. Both are beneficial, just in different ways. For decision makers elected by the people in a democratic society, policy staff have little technical training of broader issues targeted to the district they serve and little time to become experts in an issue area before their superior steps onto the floor for a congressional hearing. For instance, staffers covering multiple issue, such as agriculture, natural resources, energy, etc. in one portfolio are forced to gain quick knowledge and grasp the broad scope of the issues to present to the representative. In this way, broader knowledge visualized by GIS allows them to highlight critical information for their superior's decision-making (Haskins and Margolis, 2015).

But how do they know that the evidence they are using as support for their claim is valid, usable, and sufficient? In the past, the use of scientific evidence in policymaking was simply thought of as knowledge transfer, but simply adding more scientific evidence to a

policy position doesn't address underlying political bias (Parkhurst, 2017). In the case of ecosystem services, data showing that planting more trees of a specific species improves air quality by filtering out molecules that pollute the air would be valuable evidence used to support urban sustainability locally. As Parkhurst (2017) states, "Nothing can be said to simply 'work' to inform policy when the policy involves more than a simple technical exercise." Each policy decision must be taken case by case.

Representatives' interest in environmental issues depends on the geography and business types in their district or state. For example, in Texas the logging industry provides employment for individuals and revenue for local logging businesses. Effective natural resource legislation allows for proper use and conservation of the lumber available in the region and is regulated locally by bodies such as the Texas Logging Council (Texas Forestry Inc, 2020). Representatives in Congress communicate with these local government bodies for feedback on what is important in the district economically, environmentally, and socially. For this reason, a standardized approach to lawmaking for all environments cannot be adopted. External validity applies in few scenarios and must be carefully considered.

Value-Driven Action

The more conflicting the core beliefs of decision makers, the more crucial the role of science in policy as a neutral marker and as a strategic tool (Ingold, 2014). In this way, science facilitates policy making and breaches the conflict gap. However, a trade-off exists in that when scientific knowledge is used strategically in policy, scientific credibility tends to decrease. The issue of trust oftentimes arises if policy makers take a political angle. So even if scientific evidence is used in policy, the complexity of variables that contribute to policy output may yield subpar results in finalized decisions (Ingold, 2014). Still, it has been noted that science does play a significant role in policy decisions because decision makers value expertise in the issue area in which they deal (Ingold, 2014).

Breach the Gap Between Science and Policy

But what else could contribute to effective policy making that otherwise would lie stagnant and motionless in the movement toward a more sustainable society? The answer is twofold: communication and relationships. When speaking of communication, knowledge is discovered, transferred, and used in such a way as to enable "evidenceinformed" decision making for a specific scenario (Bednarek et al. 2018). Researchers oftentimes lack the resources and time to dedicate to thoughtful consideration of how their research fits into the policy realm (Bednarek et al. 2018). Therefore, a critical gap exists between knowledge acquired in the field and its place in policy. This must be breached by boundary spanning.

Effective communication is important but not sufficient to meeting the goal. It takes frequent collaboration to translate key scientific knowledge into something policy relevant (Bednarek et al. 2018). GIS helps breach the gap between science and policy by effectively communicating research through visuals to urban planners and policy makers. I sought to use the current street tree database I created to explore tangible policy-relevant scientific questions. From there, I considered how the distribution of air purification trees correlate with local traffic volume and told a story. By knowing where air purification trees were lacking spatially, urban foresters and planners can know where to plant specific tree species in Washington, D.C.

Objectives

The main objectives of this chapter were to 1) calculate the density of air purification provisioning trees in Washington, D.C., 2) assess the distribution of air purification provisioning trees and relate their distribution to local traffic volumes, and 4) develop policy-relevant maps from which to make recommendations to policy makers on future public tree planting.

Methods

The categorized street tree dataset was uploaded to ArcGIS Pro 2.4.0, and five new feature layers, one for each ecosystem service, were created by selecting attributes from the categorized street tree data table. I created a point density layers of trees that provision air purification at three spatial scales (120m, 300m, and 900m) for each ecosystem service by converting the point features to raster data through the point density tool. I chose output cell sizes of 120-m, 300-m, and 900-m to create density rasters at the three different spatial scales.

Traffic volume in Washington, D.C. for each 2016-2019 was downloaded from OpenData DC as shapefiles. Using R version 4.0.5 (R Core Team, 2021), each shapefile was converted to a raster and aggregated to 120-m, 300-m, and 900-m resolutions. During the aggregation processes the mean was taken for overlapping data values. For each spatial scale the mean of the 4 years was calculated for each cell. I then used a

25

masking layer to convert raster cell values where public street trees were not sampled (large National Parks, cemeteries, university campus, etc) to NA to indicated "no data". The reason for doing this was because these areas appear to have low tree density, when in fact, trees were not recorded in these areas and there were no data points for these locations. By converting these cells to NA, it removed them from our subsequent analyses.

I calculated the overall correlation between mean traffic volume and the density of air purification provisioning trees in Washington, D.C. at each 120-m, 300-m, and 900-m resolutions using the *cor* function in R, making sure to load the masking layer to block out areas where trees were not sampled (NA). I also calculated a focal spatial correlation between mean traffic volume and density of air purification provisioning trees at each spatial scale using the *corLocal* function in R. Focal analysis calculates the correlation of each cell within a moving window of the three nearest neighboring cells, offering more localized relationships between mean traffic volume and air purifying trees. The purpose of conducting this analysis at three resolutions was to provide city planners with density values based on need. This includes small-scale projects such as a city sidewalk where more existing data is needed per area or large-scale projects like a city greenspace where a courser value will suffice.

Results

At all three spatial scales I found low negative correlation (120-m, 300-m, and 900-m scales) between mean traffic volume data and density of air purification provisioning

26

street trees. At 120-m resolution I found -0.17, at 300-m resolution -0.18, and at the 900m scale -0.24. While the focal spatial correlation results do not give an overall value, I found high negative correlation between mean traffic volume and air purification provisioning trees along the central and west areas of the District near Rhode Island Ave NW and near Oxon Run Park and high positive correlation in parts of northwest Washington, D.C. surrounding Rock Creek Park (Figure 3).



Figure 2. A) Mean traffic volume data for 2016-2019. Warmer colors indicated higher traffic volume. B) Density of air purification provisioning public street trees throughout Washington, D.C. White areas indicate areas with minimal or no data. Darker shading represents greater tree densities.



Figure 3. Focal correlation at A) 120-m resolution, B) 300-m resolution, and C) 900-m resolution of traffic volume and air purification provisioning in Washington, D.C. Green shades represent low or negative correlation and red shades represent high or positive correlation. White areas in maps A and B indicate areas with no data.

Discussion

Although urban environments continue to flourish, with a projected population growth of 1.2 billion people by 2030, research on environmental sustainability in urban settings has been limited in recent years (McDonald et al. 2020). Washington, D.C. serves as a clear example of study due to its aesthetic value as the capitol of the United States of America and as a location of urban growth. Using the ecosystem service categorization provided in Chapter 1, I explored whether the distribution of air purification services specifically correlates with local traffic volume. Results indicated slight negative correlation between tree distribution and local traffic volume at the 120m, 300-m- 900-m scales. These results indicate that there is little to no relationship between trees that purify air and those areas in D.C. that likely have higher air pollution. Thus, there is potential for explicit tree planting guidelines that could help alleviate air pollution issues through nature-based solutions.

In urban environments, trees are oftentimes planted primarily for aesthetic beauty instead of air purification services or climate resiliency which could result in a decline of critical service provisioning for long term sustainability (Bennett et al. 2009). This could be the reason that most tree species exhibited aesthetic value (238 species) rather than air purification services (157 species) and why there existed a lower density distribution of air purification services with which to conduct the focal correlation with traffic volume. I found that the 120-m scale resulted in the least negative correlation (-0.17) compared to the focal correlation at the 900-m scale (-0.24) most likely because a finer scale resolution allowed for higher spatial accuracy in relation to traffic volume. With no positive correlation between traffic volume and air purification provisioning, it is likely there is no intentional effort in place to combat urban pollution using public trees. Washington, D.C. planners should explicitly plant tree species that provide air purification services in areas of high traffic volumes. Planners can use these maps as guidelines for where to prioritize future planting of specific tree species that may help reduce pollution in Washington, D.C. as it relates to traffic volume (Table 1). Although this study provides a focal correlation analysis for air purification provisioning alone, this type of analysis approach could be applied to other ecosystem services.

Identify Action Costs and Benefits with a Focus on Urban Sustainability

The planning of green infrastructure requires a chess-like approach, where planners consider all costs and benefits of vegetation with the goal of providing multifunctionality of vegetation in cities (Cameron and Blanuša, 2016). Management and planning of tree planting are difficult because species may differ in their effectiveness to provide desired

ecosystem services based on their morphologies and age. For instance, tree growth rates and tree decomposition rates determine the rates of carbon sequestration and carbon release, respectively (Zhao and Sander, 2015). Though trade-offs exist, non-native species are often imported because they better provide fundamental services such as climate resiliency, air regulation, and soil erosion prevention than some native species and (Castro-Diez, 2019; Hoyle et al. 2017). Hoyle et al. (2017) recommends incorporating non-native species into urban environments as the climate continues to change, and this study provides an extensive list of designated native and non-native tree species found in Washington, D.C. that provide specific ecosystem services. One caveat, however, is that non-native species do not provide benefits to local urban wildlife and may reduce local habitat quality (Narango et al. 2018).

While urban trees provide an array of benefits to urban residents, they are likely not distributed equally across cities (Mexia et al., 2018). Factors such as species type, elevation, climate, etc. contribute to the distribution of ecosystem services throughout a geographic area, thus policy decisions related to urban sustainability should be contextually driven. More specifically, scientific evidence portrays internal validity, where one working system cannot be applied generally to all (Parkhurst, 2017).

To properly weigh the costs and benefits of planting in a specific way, policymakers must display comprehensive rationality, in which they gather all necessary information pertinent to the problem at hand (in the case we discuss here urban sustainability through green infrastructure) and concisely communicate their preferences based on the values they hold dear as a representative (Cairney, 2016). With these two ingredients, clear decisions can be made.

The Opportunities for Urban Planting

To promote urban sustainability, continued research on ecosystem services focusing on geographic mapping will provide planners a visual overview of what services are currently being provisioned in specific areas of cities and their correlation to socioeconomic variables. Planners will see the gaps to target specific service provisioning. As seen with this study, planners should strategically plant tree species which efficiently provide air purification in mid and southeast Washington, D.C. broadly (Figure 3) as well as in local neighborhoods where the correlation between high traffic volume and air purifying trees are low.

Limitations

The traffic volume dataset I used was missing data for specific areas within D.C., because traffic readers which collect data are moved every 1-3 years. I used traffic volume data for 2016-2019 to maximize the number of areas that data was collected and took the mean for same-location data over multiple years. However, data did not cover every road in D.C. Because of the lack of some data points for years within 2016-2019, the traffic volume dataset may not provide a true representation of where pollution exists in Washington, D.C., and the study was limited in its range of current data.

This study was also limited in the extent of recommendations that can be provided to city planners in Washington, D.C. While this study provides an overview of the extent of value of air purification service in the District, this study does not provide extensive explanation regarding other ecosystem services and how those service impact or are impacted by air purification changes. However, research indicates that increasing the provisioning of one service may elevate other ecosystem services depending on the types of relationships involved (Bennett et al. 2009; Nesshőver et al. 2017).

Conclusion

As urban development continues to expand, we need to adopt ways to shift our current management system to become more sustainable in all facets of society, including economically, culturally, and societally. One way to accomplish this goal is through nature-based solutions, including effective management of street trees (Nesshőver et al. 2017). The findings from Chapter 2 demonstrate that 1) air purification provisioning street trees are distributed throughout Washington, D.C. and 2) there is a low correlation between the density of air purification trees and local traffic volume. My findings provide guidance for city planners to plant more street trees that effectively provision air regulation (Table 1) in areas with low or negative correlation. To better understand the complexity of interactions between ecosystem services in Washington, D.C., similar focal correlation studies should be conducted for stormwater protection, shade, aesthetics, and carbon sequestration. Urban sustainability requires a shift toward nature-based solutions which result in a more cost-effective, renewable, and value-driven way of life for future generations (Frantzeskaki 2019; Lafortezza et al. 2018; Martin et al. 2014; Nesshőver et al. 2017).

REFERENCES

- Akbari H. Shade trees reduce building energy use and CO₂ emissions from power plants. Environmental Pollution. 2002; 116(1):S119-S126.
- Albizia julibrisin. IFAS. 2021.
- Anderson PH and Pezeshki SR. The effects of intermittent flooking on seedlings of three forest species. Photosynthetica. 2000; 37:543-552.

Andruczyk M and Fox L. Rain Garden Plants. Virginia Cooperative Extension. 2018; 426-043.

- Aricak B, Cetin M, Erdem R, Sevik H, Cometen H. The Change of Some Heavy Metal Concentrations in Scotch Pine (Pinus sylvestris) Depending on Traffic Density, Organelle and Washing. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research. 2019; 17(3):6723-6734.
- Arora G, Chaturvedi S, Kaushal R, Nain A, Tewari S, Alam NH, Chaturvedi OP. Growth, biomass, carbon stocks, and sequestration in an age series of *Populus deltoides* plantations in Tarai region of central Himalaya. Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry. 2014; 38:550-560.
- Bae JO, Kim JG, Kim JB, Park JJ. Studies on the air pollution tolerance of the urban trees. Journal of Environmental and Sanitary Engineering. 1986; 1(1):97-107.
- Baraldi R, Chieco C, Neri L, Facini O, Rapparini F, Morrone L, Rotondi A, Carriero G. An integrated study on air mitigation potential of urban vegetation: From a multi-trait approach to modeling. 2019; 41:127-138.

- Barrett RP, Mebrahtu T, Hanover JW. Black Locust: A multi-purpose tree species for temperate climates. Advances in new crops. 2990; 278-283.
- Bassuk N, Marranca BZ, Neal B. Urban trees: site assessment selection for stress tolerance planting. Urban Horticulture Institute Cornell University. 1998. 1-64.
- Bassuk N and Sutton M. OPINION Moving beyond the natives/exotics debate. Department of horticulture, Cornell University. 2012.
- Bassuk N, Trowbridge P, Grohs C. Visual similarity and biological diversity: street tree selection and design. New York Department of Transportation. 1-13.
- Battisti L, Pomatto E, Larcher F. Assessment and mapping green areas ecosystem services and sociodemographic characteristics in Turin neighborhoods (Italy). Forests. 2020; 11(1):25.
- Bednarek AT, Wyborn C, Cvitanovic C, Meyer R, Colvin RM, Addison PFE, Close SL, Curran K, Farooque M, Goldman E, Hart D, Mannix H, McGreavy B, Parris A, Posner S, Robinson C, Ryan M, Leith P
 Boundary spanning at the science- policy interface: the practitioners' perspectives. Sustainability Science. 2018; 13:1175-1183.

Beckerman J and Lerner RB. Salt Damage in Landscape Plants. Purdue Extension. 1-11.

- Beckett PK, Freer-Smith PH, Taylor G. Particulate Pollution Capture by Urban Trees: Effect of Species and Windspeed. Global Change Biology. 2000; 6:995-1003.
- Bennett EM, Peterson GD, Gordon LJ. Understanding Relationships Among Multiple Ecosystem Services. Ecology Letters. 2009; 12:1394-1404.
- Berland A, Shiflett SA, Shuster WD, Garmestani AS, Goddard HC, Herrmann DL, Hopton ME. The role of trees in urban stormwater management. Landsc Urban Plan. 2017; 162:167-177.
- Berlizov AN, Blum OB, Filby RH, Malyuk IA, Tryshyn VV. Testing applicability of black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) bark to heavy metal air pollution monitoring in urban and industrial regions. Science of The Total Environment. 2007; 372(2-3):693-706.

Betula nigra Dura-Heat, Dura-Heat Birch. IFAS. 2015. Hort.ifas.ufl.edu.

- Bingbing W, Wenti G, Mingliang D, Ning M, Liqiang M. Resistance of Syringa spp. In Response to Automobile Exhaust. School of Forestry, Northeast Forestry University.
- Blonskaya L, Sultanova R, MuftakhovaS, Martynova M, Konashova S, Sabirzyanov I, Timerzyanov A, Khanova E, Ishbirdina L, Odintsov G. Biological indices of Bashkir Lombardy poplar (Poulus nigra L. x Populus nigra var. italica Du Roi) in urban landscape. Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science. 2019. 25:30-36.
- Bourassa SC. Toward a Theory of Landscape Aesthetics. Landscape and Urban Planning. 1988; 15(3-4):241-252.
- Buiteveld J, Werf BVD, Hiemstra JA. Comparison of commercial elm cultivars and promising unreleased Dutch clones for resistance to *Ophiostoma novo-ulmi*. iForest – Biogeosciences and Forestry. 2015; 8(2):158-164.
- Burns RM. Silvics of North America: Conifers. 2020; 433.
- Burns RM. Silvics of North America: Hardwoods. 2020; 374.
- Breen P. Platanus x acerfolia. Oregon State University. 2021.
- Britannica. 2020. Britannica.com

Callery Pear (Bradford Pear). Missouri Department of Conservation. 2021. Mdc.mo.gov.

- Cameron RWF and Blanuša T. Green infrastructure and ecosystem services is the devil in the detail? Annals of Botany. 2016; 118(3):377-391.
- Carpenter SR, Mooney HA, Agard J, Capistrano, DeFries RS, Díaz S, Dietz T, Duraiappah AK, Oteng-Yeboah A, Pereira HM, Perrings C, Reid WV, Sarukhan J, Scholes RJ, Whyte A. Science for Managing Ecosystem Services: Beyond the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. PNAS. 2009, February 3; 106(5):1305-1312.

- Carretero EM, Moreno G, Duplancic A, Abud A, Vento B, Jauregui JA. Urban forest of Mendoza (Argentina): the role of *Morus alba* (Moraceae) in carbon storage. Carbon Management. 2017; 8(3):237-244.
- Castro-Diez P, Vaz AS, Silva JS, Loo MV, Alonso A, Aponte C, Bayón Á, Bellingham PJ, Chiuffo MC, DiManno N, Julian K, Kandert S, Porta NL, Marchante H, Maule HG, Mayfield MM, Metcalfe D, Monteverdi MC, Núñez, Ostertag R, Parker IM, Peltzer DA, Potgieter LJ, Raymundo M, Rayome D, Reisman-Berman O, Richardson DM, Roos RE, Saldaña A, Shackleton RT, Torres A, Trudgen M, Urban J, Vicente JR, Vilà, Ylioja T, Zenni RD, Godoy O. Global effects of non-native tree species on multiple ecosystem services. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc. 2019; 94(4):1477-1501.
- Çetin M. and Çobanoğlu O. The Possibilities of Using Blue Spruce (Picea Pungens Engelm) as a Biomonitor by Measuring the Recent Accumulation of Mn in Its Leaves. Kastamonu University Journal of Engineering and Sciences. 2019; 5(1):43-50.
- Charro E, Moyano A, Cabezón R. The Potential of *Juniperus thurifera* to Sequester Carbon in Semi-Arid Forest Soil in Spain. *Forests*. 2017; 8(9):330.
- Chen H, Wang B, Xia Ds, Fan Yj, Liu H, Tang Zr, Ma S. Magnetic Characteristics of *Juniperus formosana* Needles Along an Urban Street in Lanzhou, Northwest China: The Variation of Different Season and Orientation. Environmental Sci Pollut Res. 2019; 26:21964-21971.
- Chen L, Liu C, Zhang L, Zou R, Zhang Z. Variation in tree species ability to capture and retain airborne fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}). Scientific Reports. 2017; 7:3206.
- Chen L, Liu C, Zou R, Yang M, Zhang Z. Experimental examination of effectiveness of vegetation as biofilter of particulate matters in the urban environment. Environmental Pollution. 2016; 208(A):198-208.
- Cherryboark Oak. Missouri Department of Conservation. 2021. Mdc.mo.gov.

Chestnut Oak. (Quercus prinus). Climate Change Atlas. 2021. Fs.fed.us.

- Chiarantini L, Rimondi V, Benvenuti M, Beutel MW, Costagliola P, Gonnelli C, Lattanzi P, Paolieri M. Black Pine (*Pinus nigra*) Barks as Biomonitors of Airborne Mercury Pollution. Science of The Total Environment. 2016; 569-570:105-113.
- Choi J, Maniquiz-Redillas MC, Hong J, Kim LH. Selection of cost-effective Green Stormwater Infrastructure (GSI) applicable in highly impervious urban catchments. Environmental Engineering. 2017; 22:24-30.
- Claessens H, Oosterbaan A, Savill P, Rondeux J. A review of the characteristics of black alder (Alnus glutinosa (L.) Gaertn.) and their implications for silvicultural practices. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research. 2010; 83(2):163-175.
- Coulston JW, Smith GC, Smith WD. Regional assessment of ozone sensitive tree species using bioindicator plants. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 2003; 83:113-127.
- Corchnoy SB, Arey J, Atkinson R. Hydrocarbon emissions from twelve urban shade trees of the Los Angeles, California, Air Basin. Atmospheric Environment. Part B. Urban Atmosphere. 1992; 26(3):399-348.
- Culley TM and Hardiman NA. The beginning of a new invasive plant: a history of the ornamental Callery Pear in the United States. BioScience. 2007; 57(11):956-964.

Crimean Linden - Tilia x euchlora. North American Insects & Spiders. 2020. Cirrusimage.com

- Crona BI, Parker JN. Network determinants of knowledge utilization: preliminary lessons from a boundary organization. Science Communication. 2011; 33(4):448-471.
- Crowder W, Geyer WA, Broyles PJ. Chokecherry *Prunus virginiana* L. Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2003.
- Davis DD and Gerhold DH. Selection of trees for tolerance of air pollutants. Better Trees for Metropolitan Landscapes: Proceedings of the Symposium. 2020.
- Deborah Norway Maple. Arbortanics. 2016; the treefarm.com

- Dineva SB. Comparative Studies of the Leaf Morphology and Structure of White Ash *Fraxinus americana L*. and London plane tree *Platanus acerifolia Willd* Growing in Polluted Area. Dendrobiology.
 2004; 52:3-8.
- Druart N, Rodríguez-Buey M, Barron-Gafford G, Sjődin A, Bhalerao R, Hurry V. Molecular targets of elevated [CO₂] in leaves and stems of *Populus deltoides:* implications for future tree growth and carbon sequestration. Functional Plant Biology. 2006;33(2):121-131.
- Drzewiecka K, Piechalak A, Goliński P, Gąsecka M, Magdziak Z, Szostek M, Budzyńska S, Niedzielski P, Mleczek M. Differences of *Acer platanoides* L. and *Tilia cordata* Mill. Response patterns/survival strategies during cultivation in extremely polluted mining sludge – A pot trial. 2019; 229:589-601.

Ebben. Ulmus x hollandica 'Commelin' Commelin Dutch Elm. Ebben. nl.

Ebben. Ulmus x hollandica 'Groeneveld' Groeneveld Dutch Elm. Ebben. nl

Emerald Queen Norway Maple. WSU Clark County Extension. 2021; pnwplants.wsu.edu.

Esri, Maxar, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, GeoEye, USDA FSA, USGS, Aerogrid, IGN, IGP, and the GIS User Community. World Topographic Map. Esri_Atlas. 2013.

Eucommia ulmoides: a tree for urban areas. 2006.

Fini A, Mori J, Teani A, Burchi G, Ferrini F. Evaluation of Different Shrub Species for Carbon Uptake and Pollution Removal. Dipartimento di Scienze delle Produzioni Agroalimentari e dell'Ambiente – Università di Firenze.

Forsyth HK. The Constant Cardener. 2007.

- Frantzeskaki N. Seven Lessons for Planning Nature-Based Solutions in Cities. Environmental Science & Policy. 2019; 93:101-111.
- Freeborn JR, Sample DJ, Fox LJ. Residential stormwater: methods for decreasing runoff and increasing stormwater infiltration. Journal of Green Building. 2012; 7(2):15-30.

Freilicher M and Coop J. Tree city, tree line, and tree campus USA. The Citizen Forester. 2017; 1-10.

- Friedman MH, Andreu MG, Quintana HV, McKenzie M. *Quercus hemisphaerica*, Darlington Oak. EDIS. 2010; (4).
- Fu D, Bu B, Wu J, Singh RP. Investigation on the Carbon Sequestration Capacity of Vegetation Along a Heavy Traffic Load Expressway. Journal of Environmental Management. 2019; 241:549-557.
- Gaal, Angela. Ecosystem Services Provided by Street Tree Species in Washington, D.C. George Mason University Dataverse. 2021.
- Gillner S, Vogt J, Tharang A, Dettmann S, Roloff A. Role of Street Trees in Mitigating Effects of Heat and Drought at Highly Sealed Urban Sites. Landscape and Urban Planning. 2015; 143:33-42.
- Gilman EF and Watson DG. Acer platanoides 'Summershade' 'Summershade' Norway Maple. IFAS Extension. 1993.
- Gilman EF and Watson DG. Crataegus viridis 'Winter King' 'Winter King' Southern Hawthorn. Environmental Horticulture Department, Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida. 1993; 1-3.
- Gilman EF and Watson DG. *Ilex x attenuata* 'Fosteri' Fosters Holly. Environmental Horticulture Department, Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida. 1993; 1-3.
- Gilman EF and Watson DG. *Platanus x Acerifolia* 'Bloodgood': 'Bloodgood' London Planetree. IFAS Extension. 2015.
- Gilman EF, Watson DG, Klein RW, Koeser AK, Hilbert DR, McLean DC. Pyrus calleryana: 'Bradford' Callery Pear. IFAS Extension. 2019.
- Gómez-Baggethun E and Barton DN. Classifying and valuing ecosystem services for urban planning. Ecological Economics. 2013; 86:235-245.

- Gourdji S. Review of Plants to Mitigate Particulate Matter, Ozone as well as Nitrogen Dioxide Air Pollutants and Applicable Recommendations for Green Roofs in Montreal, Quebec. Environmental Pollution. 2018; 241:378-387.
- Gotsch SG, Draguljić D, Williams CJ. Evaluating the effectiveness of urban trees to mitigate storm water runoff via transpiration and stemflow. Urban Ecosyst. 2018; 21:183-195.
- Guries R and Smalley E. Metria: 7 Proceedings a biological base for testing every plant breeding program. 1999.
- Hall T. Paulownia: An Agroforestry Gem. Trees for Life Journal. 2008. 3:1-5.
- Hijano CF, Domínguez MDP, Gimínez RG, Sínchez PH, García IS. Higher plants as bioindicators of sulphur dioxide emissions in urban environments. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 2005; 111:75-88.
- Hounshell T. Ecosystem services of urban tree canopy for the mitigation of climate change: measuring carbon sequestration and understory temperature reduction of Knoxville's urban forest. Pursuit – The Journal of Undergraduate Research at The University of Tennessee. 2020; 10(1):1-22.
- Huang, CH, Bates R, Kronrad GD, Cheng S. Economic analyses of sequestering carbon in Loblolly Pine, Cherrybark Oak, and Northern Red Oak in the United States. Environmental Management. 2004; 33:S187-S199.
- Huang CW, Lin MY, Khlystov A, and Katul GG. The Effects of Leaf Size and Microroughness on the Branch-Scale Collection Efficiency of Ultrafine Particles. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 2015; 120: 3370–3385.
- Hyun-Kil J and Tae-Won A. Carbon storage and uptake by deciduous tree species for urban landscape. Journal of the Korean Institute of Landscape Architecture. 2012; 40(5):160-168.

'Imperial' Carolina Poplar. Rose Lake Plant Materials Center. 2021. Plant-materials.nrcs.usda.gov.

- Ingold M, Gschwend M. Science in Policy-Making: Neutral Experts or Strategic Policy-Makers? West European Politics. 2014; 37(5):993-1018.
- Jablonski E. Cultivars of European Crataegus Past and Present. Belgische Dendrologuie Belge. 2017; 83-95.
- Jo HK and Ahn TW. Carbon Storage and Uptake by Deciduous Tree Species for Urban Landscape. Journal of the Korean Institute of Landscape Architecture. 2012; 40(5):160-168.
- Jo HK, Kim JY, Park, HM. Carbon Reduction Effects of Urban Landscape Trees and Development of Quantitative Models for Five Native Species. Journal of the Korean Institute of Landscape Architecture. 2014; 42(5):13-21.
- Johnson AD and Gerhold HD. Carbon storage by utility-compatible trees. Journal of Arboriculture. 2001; 27(2):57-68.
- Jönsson M and Snäll T. Ecosystem Service Multifuntionality of Low-Productivity Forests and Implications for Conservation and Management. Journal of Applied Ecology. 2020, January 10; 57(4):695-706.
- Jull LG. Winter Salt Injury and Salt-Tolerant Landscape Plants. University of Wisconsin-Extension. 2009; 1-12.
- Jung-Kyu J, Hae-Ran K, Young-Han Y. Effects of elevated CO₂ concentration and temperature on growth response of *Quercus acutissima and Q. variabilis*. Korean Journal of Environment and Ecology. 2010; 24(6):648-656.
- Kareiva P, Tallis H, Ricketts RH, Polasky S, Daily GC. Natural Capital: Theory and Practice of Mapping Ecosystem Services. Oxford Biology. 2011.
- Karnosky DF and Myers TR. Specify tolerant trees for air polluted areas. Weeds Trees & Turf. 1982; 56-62.
- Kirwan J and Kane B. Urban Forestry Issues. Virginia Cooperative Extension. 2009; 1-4.

- Kiss M, Takács, Pogácsás R, Gulyáa. The role of ecosystem services in climate and air quality in urban areas: Evaluating carbon sequestration and air pollution removal by street and park trees in Szeged (Hungary). Moravian Geographical Reports. 2015; 23(3);36-46.
- Kiyomizu T, Yamagishi S, Kume A, Kanba YT. Contrasting photosynthetic responses to ambient air pollution between the urban shrub *Rhododenron x pulchrum* and urban tall tree *Ginkgo biloba* in Kyoto city: stomatal and leaf mesophyll morpho-anatomies are key traits. Trees. 2018; 33:63-77.
- Kleczewski NM, Herms DA, Bonello P. Nutrient and water availability alter belowground patterns of biomass allocation, carbon partitioning, and ectomycorrhizal abundance in *Betula nigra*. Trees. 2012; 26:525-533.
- Klingaman G. Plant of the Week: Oak, English Columnar. University of Arkansas Division of Agriculture. 2010; uaex.edu.
- KOÇ İ. Using *Cedrus atlantica's* Annual Rings as a Biomonitor in Observing the Changes of Ni and Co Concentrations in the Atmosphere. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 2021 March 7; 28:35880-35886.
- Kortenkamp KV and Moore CF. Ecocentrism and anthropocentrism: moral reasoning about ecological commons dilemmas. Journal of Environmental Psychology. 2001; 21(3):261-272.
- Kou-Giesbrecht S and Menge D. Nitrogen-fixing trees could exacerbate climate change under elevated nitrogen deposition. Nature Communications. 2019; 10(1493).
- Kuehler E, Hathaway J, Tirpak A. Quantifying the Benefits of Urban Forest Systems as a Component of the Green Infrastructure Stormwater Treatment Network. Ecohydrology. 2016, November 17; 10(3).
- Kwak MJ, Lee JK, Park S, Lim YJ, Kim H, Kim KN, Je SM, Park CR, Woo SY. Evaluation of the Importance of Some East Asian Tree Species for Refinement of Air Quality by Estimating Air

Pollution Tolerance Index, Anticipated Performance Index, and Air Pollutant Uptake. *Sustainability*. 2020; 12(7):3067.

Lafortezza R, Chen J, Konijnendijk van den Bosch C, Randrup TB. Nature-Based Solutions for Resilient Landscapes and Cities. Environmental Research. 2018; 165:431-441.

Lal R and Augustin B. Carbon Sequestration in Urban Ecosystems. 2012; 1-383.

Leopold D. Chinese and Siberian elms. Journal of Arboriculture. 1980; 6:175-179.

- Lettle A and Hýsek. J. Soil microflora in an area where spruce (*Picea abies*) was killed by SO₂ emissions and was succeeded by birch (*Betula pendula*) and mountain ash (*Sorbus aucuparia*). Ecological Engineering. 1994; 3(1):27-37.
- Liang F, Ma L, Jia Z, Wang X, You W, Wang W, Wang K. Aboveground and root carbon stocks for Chinese arborvitae plantation following different silvicultural thinning. Energy Procedia. 2012; 14:913-918.
- Lian J, Fang HL, Zhang TL, Wang XX, Liu YD. Heavy metal in leaves of twelve plant species from seven different areas in Shanghai, China. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2017; 27:390-398.
- Liu YJ, Zhu YG, Ding H. Lead and Cadmium in Leaves of Deciduous Trees in Beijing, China: Development of a metal Accumulation Index (MAI). Environmental Pollution. 2007; 145(2):387-390.
- Livesley SJ, Ossola A, Threlfall CG, Hahs AK, Williams NSG. Soil Carbon and Carbon/Nitrogen Change under Tree Canopy, Tall Grass, and turf Grass Areas of Urban Green Space. Journal of Environmental Quality. 2016; 45(1):215-223.
- Lodovici M, Akpan V, Casalini C, Zappa C, Dolara P. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in *Laurus nobilis* leaves as a Measure of Air Pollution in Urban and Rural Sites of Tuscany. Chemosphere. 1998; 36(8):1703-1712.

- Luo Z, Tian D, Ning C, Yan W, Xiang W, Peng C. Roles of *Koelreuteria bipinnata* as a suitable accumulator tree species in remediating Mn, Zn, Pb, and Cd pollution on Mn mining wastelands in southern China. Environmental Earth Sciences. 2015; 74:4549-4559.
- Maeglin RR and Ohmann LF. Boxelder (*Acer negundo*): A Review and Commentary. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club. 1973; 100(6):357-363.
- Maes J and Jacobs, S. Nature-Based Solutions for Europe's Sustainable Development. Conservation Letters. 2017; 10:121-124.
- Malaguti D, Millard P, Wendler R, Hepburn A, Tagliavini M. Translocation of amino acids in the xylem of apple (*Malus domestica* Borkh.) trees in spring as a consequence of both N remobilization and root uptake. Journal of Experimental Botany. 2001; 52(361):1665-1671.
- Marana B. A Green GIS Solution against Air Pollution in the Province of Bergamo: The Paulownia Tree. Journal of Geographic Information System. 2018.
- Malaviya P, Sharma R, Sharma PK. Rain Gardens as Stormwater Management Tool. Sustainable Green Technologies for Environmental Management. 2019; 141-166.
- Martin A, Gross-Camp N, Kebede B, McGuire S. Measuring Effectiveness, Efficiency and Equity in an Experimental Payments for Ecosystem Services Trial. Global Environmental Change. 2014; 28:216-226.
- Martin MP, Simmons C, Ashton MS. Survival is not enough: the effects of microclimate on the growth and health of three common urban tree species in San Francisco, California. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2016; 19:1-6.

Marquis DA. Prunus serotina Black Cherry. Northeastern Forest Experiment Station. N.d. 594-604.

- Matsunaga SN, Shimada K, Masuda T, Hoshi J, Sato S, Nagashima H, Ueno H. Emission of Biogenic Volatile Organic Compounds from Trees along Streets and in Urban Parks in Tokyo, Japan. Asian Journal of Atmospheric Environment. 2017 March; 11(1):29-32.
- McDonald RI Mansur AV, Ascensão F, Cobert M, Crossman K, Elmqvist T, Gonzalez A, Güneralp B, Haase D, Hamann M, Hillel O, Huang K, Kahnt B, Maddox D, Pacheco A, Pereira HM, Seto KC, Simkin R, Walsh B, Werner AS, Ziter C. Research Gaps in Knowledge of the Impact of Urban Growth on Biodiversity. Nat Sustain. 2020; 3:16-24.

McPherson EG. Trees are good, but... Arborist News. 2010; 19(5):58-60.

- McPherson EG, Xiao Q, Natalie VD, Peper P, Teach E. Surface Storage of Rainfall in Tree Crowns: Not All Trees are Equal. Pacific Southwest Research Station. 2017; 30-33.
- Megonigal PJ and Da FP. Effects of flooding on root and shoot production of Bald Cypress in large experimental enclosures. ESA. 1992; 73(4):1182-1193.
- Meyer PW. Amur Maackia Maackia amurensis. Arnoldia. 2020.
- Mihajlović L. Chalcidoidea Species (Insecta: Hymenoptera) on the Woody Vine *Campsis radicans* (L.) Seem. Ex Bureau. Acta Entomologica Serbica. 2018; 23(1):51-77.
- Mi-Kyoung H, Kyeong-Jin K, Keum-Chul Y. Comparison of carbon storages, annual carbon uptake and soil respiration to planting types in urban park – the case study of Dujeong Park in Cheonan City. Korean Journal of Environment and Ecology. 2014; 28(2):142-149.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Board. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: A Framework for Assessment. Island Press, 2003.
- Mills G, Anjos M, Brennan M, Williams J, McAleavey C, Ningal T. The green 'signature' of Irish cities: An examination of the ecosystem services provided by trees using i-Tree Canopy software. Irish Geography. 2016; 48(2):62-77.

- Mexia T, Vieira J, Príncipe A, Anjos A, Silva P, Lopes N, Freitas C, Santos-Reis M, Correia O, BranquinhoC, Pinho P. Ecosystem services: Urban parks under a magnifying glass. Environmental Research.2018; 160:469-478.
- Monrovia. 2020. Monrovia.com.
- Moser A, Rőtzer T, Pauleit S, Pretzsch H. Structure and ecosystem services of small-leaved lime (*Tilia cordata Mill.*) and black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia L.*) in urban environments. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2015; 14(4):1110-1121.
- Muhr J, Messier C, Delagrange S, Trumbore S, Xu X, Hartmann H. How fresh is maple syrup? Sugar maple trees mobilize carbon stored several years previously during early springtime sap-ascent. New Phytologist. 2015.
- Narango DL, Tallamy DW, Marra PP. Nonnative Plants Reduce Population Growth of an Insectivorous Bird. PNAS. 2018, November 6; 115(45):11549-11554.
- National Policy Council. Using Science as Evidence in Public Policy. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. 2012.
- Nesshöver C, Assmuth T, Irvine KN, Rusch GM, Waylen KA, Delbaere B, Haase D, Jones-Walters L, Keune H, Kovacs E, Krauze K, Külvik M, Rey F, Dijk Jv, Vistad OI, Wilkinson ME, Wittmer H. The Science, Policy and Practive of Nature-Based Solutions: An Interdisciplinary Perspective. Science of The Total Environment. 2017; 579:1215-1227.
- Neufeld HS. Effects of light on growth, morphology, and photosynthesis in Baldcypress (*Taxodium distichum* (L.) Rich.) and Pondcypress (*T. ascendens* Brongn.) seedlings. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club. 1983; 110:43-54.
- Nguyen A. A Benefit-Cost Analysis of Ten urban Landscaping Trees in Berkeley, CA. Nature.Berkeley.edu.
- Niemiera AX. American Hornbeam, Carpinus caroliniana. Virginia Cooperative Extension. 2018.
- Niemiera AX. Goldenchain tree, Laburnum x watereri. Virginia Cooperative Extension. 2018.

Niemiera AX. Norway Maple (Acer platanoides). Virginia Cooperative Extension. 2009.

Niemiera AX. Sweetgum (Liquidambar styraciflua) Virginia Cooperative Extension. 2018.

North Carolina Extension Gardener Plant Toolbox. NC State Extension. 2020.

- Nowak DJ and Heisler GM. Air Quality Effects of Urban Trees and Parks. National Recreation and Park Association. 2010; 1-48.
- Nowak DJ. Atmospheric carbon reduction by urban trees. Journal of Environmental Management. 1993; 37(3):207-217.
- Nowak DJ, Stevens JC, Sisinni SM, Luley CJ. Effects of urban tree management and species selection on atmospheric carbon dioxide. Journal of Arboriculture.2002; 28(3):113-122.
- Nowak DJ. Tree species selection, design, and management to improve air quality. Construction Technology. 2000; 23-27.
- Padilla FM, Vidal B, Sánchez J, Pugnaire FI. Land-Use Changes and Carbon Sequestration Through the Twentieth Century in a Mediterranean Mountain Ecosystem: Implications for Land Management. Journal of Environmental Management. 2010; 91(12):2688-2695.

Paoletti E. Ozone and urban forests in Italy. Environmental Pollution. 2009; 157(5):1506-1512.

- Parkhurst, J. The politics of evidence: from evidence-based policy to the good governance of evidence. Routledge Studies in Governance and Public Policy. Routledge, Abingdon, Oxon, UK. 2017.
- Park JH, Baek SG, Kwon MY, Je SM, Woo SY. Volumetric equation development and carbon storage estimation of urban forest in Daejeon, Korea. Forest Science and Technology. 2018; 2:97-104.
- Percy KE and Karnosky DF. Air Quality in Natural Areas: Interface Between the Public, Science and Regulation. Environmental Pollution. 2007; 149(3):256-267.
- Petrova ST. Efficiency of Pinus nigra J.F. Arnold in Removing Pollutants from Urban Environment (Plovdiv, Bulgaria). Environ Sci Pollut Res. 2020; 27: 39490–39506.

- Pietras-Couffignal K and Robakowski P. The impact of air pollution on growth features and the health of trees in Berlin. Dendrobiology. 2019; 82:52-65.
- Posner SM, Cvitanovic. Evaluating the impacts of boundary-spanning activities at the interface of environmental science and policy: A review of progress and future research needs. Environmental Science and Policy. 2019; 92:141-151.
- Primack RB, Higuchi H, Miller-Rushing AJ. The impact of climate change on cherry trees and other species in Japan. Biological Conservation. 2009; 142(9):1943-1949.
- Ranney TG. Differential tolerance of eleven *Prunus* taxa to root zone flooding. Journal of Environmental Horticulture. 1994; 12(3):138-141.
- Ranney TG, Bir RE, Powell MA. Urban trees for use under utility lines. Department of Horticultural Science North Carolina State University. 1993; 1-4.
- Raupp MJ, Cumming AB, Raupp EC. Street tree diversity in eastern North America and its potential for tree loss to exotic borers. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry. 2006; 32(6):297.
- R Core Team. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. 2021.
- Reid WV. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Ecosystems and Human Well-Being Synthesis. World Resources Institute. 2005, March 1; 1-155.
- Rindy JE, Ponette-González AG, Barrett TE, Sheesley RJ, Weathers KC. Urban trees are sinks for soot: elemental carbon accumulation by two widespread oak species. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2019; 53(17):10092-10101.
- Roloff A, Korn S, Gillner S. The Climate-Species-Matrix to select tree species for urban habitats considering climate change. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2009; 8(4):295-308.

- Ru N, Song Z, Liu H, Liu X, Guo F, Zhang X, Wu X. Phytolith Carbon Sequestration in Shrublands of North China. Silicon. 2018; 10:455-464.
- Saeed S, Ashraf MI, Ahmad A, Rahman Z. The Bela forest ecosystem of district Jhelum, a potential carbon sink. Pak. J. Bot. 2016; 48(1):121-129.
- Salmond JA, Tadaki M, Vardoulakis S, Arbuthnott K, Coutts A, Demuzere M, Dirks KN, Heaviside C, Lim S, Macintyre H, McInnes RN, Wheeler BW. Health and climate related ecosystem services provided by street trees in the urban environment. Environmental Health. 2016; 15(Suppl. 1):36.
- Samara T and Tsitsoni T. Selection of forest species for use in urban environment in relation to their potential capture to heavy metals. Global NEST Journal. 2014; 16:1-9.
- Samecka-Cymerman A, Kolon K, Kempers AJ. *Taxus baccata* as a Bioindicator of Urban Environmental Pollution. Polish J. of Environ. Stud. 2011; 20(4):1021-1027.
- Sauer TJ, Cambardella CA, Brandle JR. Soil carbon and tree litter dynamics in a red cedar scotch pine shelterbelt. Agroforestry Systems. 2007; 71:164-174.
- Scharenbroch BC. Urban Trees for Carbon Sequestration. Carbon Sequestration in Urban Ecosystems. 2011; 121-138.
- Schooling JT and Carlyle-Moses DE. The influence of rainfall depth class and deciduous tree traits on stemflow production in an urban park. Urban Ecosystems. 2015; 18:1261-1284.
- Scott JM, Davis F, Csuti B, Noss R, Butterfield B, Groves C, Anderson H, Caicco S, D'Erchia F, Edwards Jr. TC, Ulliman J, Wright RG. Gap analysis: a geographic approach to protection of biological diversity. Wildlife Monographs. 1993; 123:3-41.
- Seiler LK, Decoteau DR, Marini RP, Davis DD. Staghorn Sumac (*Rhus typhina*): A new bioindicator to detect phytotoxic levels of ambient ozone in the Eastern United States. Northeastern Naturalist. 2019; 26(4):807-816.

- Sekse L. Cuticular fracturing in fruits of sweet cherry (*Prunus avium L.*) resulting from changing soil water contents. Journal of Horticultural Science. 1995; 70(4):631-635.
- Selmi W, Weber C, Rivière, Blond N, Mehdi L, Nowak D. Air pollution removal by trees in public green spaces in Strasbourg city, France. Urban forestry & Urban Greening. 2016; 17:192-201.
- Seo BK. Korean Native Landscape Woody Plants Planted at JC Raulston Arboretum in USA. Journal of Natural Science. 1998; 11(1):137-142.
- Sevik H, Cetin M, Ozel HB, Akarsu H, Cetin IZ. Analyzing of Usability of Tree-Rings as Biomonitors for Monitoring Heavy Metal Accumulation in the Atmosphere in Urban Area: A Case Study of Cedar Tree (*Cedrus sp.*). Environ Monit Assess. 2020; 192:23
- Sharma CM, Gairola S, Baduni NP, Ghildiyal SK, Suyal S. Variation in carbon stocks on different slope aspects in seven major forest types of temperate region of Garhwal Himalaya, India. Journal of Biosciences. 2011; 36:701-708.
- Sieber J, Pons M. Assessment of Urban Ecosystem Services using Ecosystem Services Reviews and GISbased Tools. Procedia Engineering. 2015; 115:53-60.
- Si L, Peng X, Zhou J. The suitability of growing mulberry (*Morus alba* L.) on soils consisting of urban sludge composted with garden waste: a new method for urban sludge disposal. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 2019; 26:1379-1393.
- Simon E, Baranyai E, Braun M, Cserháati C, Fábián I, Tóthmérész B. Elemental concentrations in deposited dust on leaves along an urbanization gradient. Science of The Total Environment. 2014; 490:514-520.
- Sluder ER. Halesia Carolina L Carolina Silverbell. Silvics of North America: Hardwoods.
- Smeal PL and Coartney JS. Shade, Flowering, and Evergreen Trees for Virginia. Virginia Cooperative Extension Service. 1984; 430-597.
- Smiley ET, Calfee L, Fraedrich BR, Smiley EJ. Comparison of structural and noncompacted soils for trees surrounded by pavement. Arboriculture & Urban Forestry. 2006; 164-169.

Smith WH. Metal contamination of urban woody plants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1973; 7(7):631-636. Snow Goose Flowering Cherry. Rutgers Landscape & Nursery. 2013. Plats.rutgersln.com.

- Song Z, Liu H, Li B, Yang X. The production of phytolith-occluded carbon in China's forests: implications to biogeochemical carbon sequestration. Global Change Biology. 2013.
- Sprouls JM. Growing Trees in a Gravel Bed Stormwater Retention System as a Novel Approach to Stormwater Management in Urban Sites. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 2020 May 19; 1-109.
- Stirban M, Soran V, Spârchez C, Crčiun C. The effect of atmospheric pollution on chloroplast ultrastructure under natural conditions. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 1979; 3(4):369-373.
- Stokes TA and Samuelson LJ. Water use and drought tolerance in eight urban tree species. Urban Ecosystems. 2010; 64-163.
- Takahashi M, Higaki A, Nohno M, Kamada M, Okamura Y, Matsui K, Kitani S, Morikawa H. Differential assimilation of nitrogen dioxide by 70 taxa of roadside trees at an urban pollution level. Chemosphere. 2005; 61(5):633-639.
- Tallis H Natural Capital: Theory and Practice of Mapping Ecosystem Services. New York, Oxford University Press 2011.

Taxodium ascendens / Pond Cypress. American Conifer Society. 2020. Conifersociety.org.

Temple PJ. Dose-response of urban trees to sulfur dioxide. Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association. 2012; 22(4):271-274.

Texas Logging Council. Texas Forestry Association. 2020.

The Morton Arboretum. 2021. Mortonarb.org

Tomaševič M, Vukmirovič Z, Rajšič S, Tasič M, Stevanovič B. Contribution to Biomonitoring of Some Trace Metals by Deciduous Tree Leaves in Urban Areas. Environ Monit Assess. 2008; 137:393. Tomaševič M, Rajšič S, Dordević D, Tasić M, Krstić J, Novaković V. Heavy metals accumulation in tree leaves from urban areas. Environ Chem Lett. 2004; 2:151-154.

Tredici PD and Li J. Chionanthus retusus: The Chinese Fringetree. Arnoldia. 63(4):17-18.

Tree Trenches and Tree Boxes Combined. Minnesota Stormwater Manual. 2018 September 25.

- Troxel B, Piana M, Ashton MS, Murphy-Dunning C. Relationships between bole and crown size for young urban trees in the northeastern USA. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2013; 12(3):144-153.
- Troy A, Wilson MA. Mapping ecosystem services: practical challenges and opportunities in linking GIS and value transfer. Ecological Economics. 2006; 60:435-449.
- Turk RP, Kraus HT, Hunt WF, Carmen NB, Bilderback TE. Nutrient sequestration by vegetation in bioretention cells receiving high nutrient loads. Journal of Environmental Engineering. 2017; 143(2)

UKY. American Sycamore. Department of Horticulture. 2020.

University of Kentucky. 2021. Uky.edu/hort.

- Urošević MA, Jovanović G, Stević N, Deljanin I, Nikolić M, Tomašsević M, Samson R. Leaves of common urban tree species (*Aesculus hippocastanum, Acer platanoides, Betula pendula* and *Tilia cordata*) as a measure of particle and particle-bound pollution: a 4-year study. Air Quality, Atmosphere & Health. 2019; 12:1081-1090.
- USDA Plants Database. (n.d.) 2021 October 8.
- VACULOVÁ V and ŠTĚPÁNKOVÁ R. Application of Rain Gardens to an Urban Area Housing Estate in Nitra, Slovakia. Acta Horticulturae et Regiotecturae. 2017; 1-5.
- Wang B, Zhang W, Niu X, Wang XY. Particulate Matter Adsorption Capacity of 10 Evergreen Species in Beijing. Huan Jing ke Xue= Huanjing Kexue. 2015 Feb; 36(2):408-414.

- Wang C, Xiao H, Liu J, Zhou J, Du D. Insights into the effects of simulated nitrogen deposition on leaf functional traits of *Rhus Typhina*. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies. 2016; 25(3):1279-1284.
- Wang YC, Liu WY, Ko SH, Lin JC. Tree species diversity and carbon storage in air quality enhancement zones in Taiwan. Aerosol and Air Quality Research. 2015; 15:1291-1299.
- Weber C. A tree management ordinance for Huntsville, Alabama. 2006.
- Weerakkody U, Dover JW, Mitchell P, Reiling K. Particulate Matter Pollution Capture by Leaves of Seventeen Living Wall Species with Special Reference to Rail-Traffic at a Metropolitan Station. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2017; 27:173-186.
- Wondwossen G. Nursery propagation, field adaptation and carbon sequestration potential of Pistacia chinensis (Chinese Pistachio). Journal of Agricultural Development. 2012; 1-17.
- Woodlanders. 2021. Woodlanders.net
- Woodwell GM. Effects of pollution on the structure and physiology of ecosystems. JSTOR. 1970; 168(3930):429-433.
- Woo SY, Kwon KW, Lee JC, Choi JH, Kang BS. Recovery of net photosynthetic rate after SO₂ fumigation in *Quercus acutissima, Pinus densiflora, Populus albaxglandulosa, and Acanthopanax* sessiliflorus. Photosynthetica. 2003; 41:319-320.
- Wyman D. Parks, Malls, Roadsides: Public Area Plantings. Arnold Arboretum of Harvard University. 76-80.
- Xiao, Q. and McPherson, E.G. Surface Water Storage Capacity of Twenty Tree Species in Davis, California. J. Environ. Qual. (2016); 45:188-198.
- Yang Y, Zhang L, Huang X, Zhou Y, Quan Q, Li Y, Zhu X. Response of Photosynthesis to Different Concentrations of Heavy Metals in *Davidia involucrata*. PLoS ONE. 2020; 15(3).

- Yoon TK, Park CW, Lee SJ, Ko S, Kim KN, Son Y, Lee KH, Oh S, Lee WK, Son Y. Allometric equations for estimating the aboveground volume of five common urban street tree species in Daegu, Korea. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2013; 12(3):344-349.
- Yuan Y, Guo W, Ding W, Du N, Luo Y, Liu J, Xu F, Wang R. Competitive interaction between the exotic plant *Rhus typhina* L. and the native tree *Quercus acutissima* Carr. N Northern China under different soil N:P ratios. Plant and Soil. 2013; 372:389-400.
- Yu, X, Zha T, Pang, Z, Wang, X, Chen, G, Li C, Cao J, Jia G, Li X, Wu H. Response of soil respiration to soil temperature and moisture in a 50-year-old oriental arborvitae plantation in China. PLoS One. 2011; 6(12).
- Zajicek JM and Heilman JL. Transpiration by Crape Myrtle cultivars surrounded by mulch, soil, and turfgrass surfaces. HortScience. 1991; 26(9):1207-1210.
- Zhang J, Jiang J, Zhang Z, Shan Q, Chen G, Wang Y, Xu Y, Wu H, Abarquez A. Discussion on role of forest to control agricultural non-point source pollution in Taihu Lake Basin-based on source-sink analysis. J. Water Resource and Protection. 2009; 1:345-350.
- Zhang L, Zhang P, Yu M, Wu T. Soil organic carbon content and stocks in an age-sequence of *Metasequoia glyptostroboides* plantations in coastal area, East China. 2016; (4):1004-1012.
- Zhang Q, Wang C, Wang X, Quan X. Carbon concentration variability of 10 Chinese temperate tree species. Forest Ecology and Management. 2009; 258(5):722-727.
- Zhang X and Stottlemyer A. Economic Contribution of the Texas Christmas Tree Industry. Forest Analytics Department, Texas A&M Forest Service. 1-3.
- Zhao C, Sander HA. Quantifying and mapping the supply of and demand for carbon storage and sequestration service from urban trees. PLoS One. 2015; 10(8):e0136392.

Zhu c, Przybysz A, Chen Y, Guo Y, Guo H, Chen Y, Zeng Y. Effect of spatial heterogeneity of plant communities on air PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} in an urban forest park in Wuhan, China. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 2019; 46:126487.

Ziziphus mauritiana (Jujube). CAB International Invasive Species Compendium. 2019 November 21.

BIOGRAPHY

Angela Gaal graduated from Forsyth Central High School, Cumming, GA in 2015. She received her Bachelor of Science from Bob Jones University in 2019 and went on to intern on Capitol Hill for Rep. Jody Hice (GA-10) and Rep. Daniel Webster (FL-11) with a focus on natural resource policy and environmental sustainability. She received her Master of Science in Evolutionary Biology from George Mason University in 2021.